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ABOUT MØLLERGRUPPEN 

 
 
MøllerGruppen is a family-owned Group involved with the import, sale, servicing and financing of Volkswagen, 
Audi and Skoda cars, as well as the development and management of properties. The company is represented 
in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics 
 
Car imports. Harald A. Møller AS is Norway's largest car importer. The company is responsible for the import, 
distribution and servicing of Volkswagen, Audi and Skoda cars in Norway. More than every fourth car sold in 
Norway is imported through Harald A. Møller AS. Møller Baltic Import SE imports Volkswagen cars to Estonia, 
Latvia and Lithuania and Audi cars to Latvia and Lithuania. 
 
Car dealerships. Møller Bil is MøllerGruppen's business unit for dealerships in Norway, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia 
and Lithuania. Møller Bil Norge is Norway's largest car dealer and has 41 dealers with their own sales and 
servicing facilities throughout the country. Møller Bil Sverige consists of 10 sales locations, and Møller Auto 
Baltic has 13 sales locations in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. 
 
Real estate. MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS is the holding company for the property activities of the Group. The 
Group owns, manages and develops new properties in Norway, Sweden, Lithuania and Latvia. The majority of 
the properties are 350 000 m², modern car dealerships and commercial property. 
 
Financial services. 49 percent of Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is owned by MøllerGruppen and 51 percent by 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG. The company's objectives are to provide finance and leasing for cars. 
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KEY FIGURES 2012 
 

MØLLERGRUPPEN 
KEY FIGURES 

               
        Amount in NOK million     2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 
Operating income 

  
  

    Operating income     18,817.3 18,087.9 15,635.7 13,141.0 14,329.9 
Results  

  
  

    Operating profit excluding depreciation  
  

993.8 1,026.4 928.0 614.3 523.8 
Operating results 

  
802.2 868.8 773.5 404.1 331.9 

EBITDA  1) 
 

1,093.0 1,074.9 971.7 651.7 539.6 
Profit before tax 

  
828.5 924.6 816.1 395.1 247.1 

Annual profit     597.9 697.0 593.5 283.1 172.0 
Capital 

  
  

    Equity as of 31.12. 
  

5,529.4 5,199.0 3,211,5 2,744.6 2,662.5 
Total capital as of 31.12. 

  
9,841.9 9,549,7 5,587.8 5,384.5 6,638.6 

Equity percentage     56.2 54.4 57.5 51.0 40.1 
Profitability 

  
  

    
Equity profitability % 2) 

 

           
11.1           14.0            19.9          20.6              7.2  

Total capital profitability % 3)   9.1 11.5 13.7 7.4             6.6  
Number of employees 

  
  

    Number of employees 
  

3,677 3,454 3,233 3,143 3,411 
Total salary and personnel costs 

  
1,969.8 1,849.4 1,695.3 1,627.0 1,655.0 

        
1) Including result in TS 

       2) Return on equity: net profit as a percentage of average equity. 
  3) Return on assets: profit before tax plus financial expenses as a percentage of average total capital. 

 

BUSINESS AREA 
 

Amount in NOK million 
 

Car imports 
Norway 

Car dealers 
Norway 

Car dealers 
Sweden 

Cars 
Baltics Car Finance Property  

                

Operating income 2012 9,813 10,748 2,233 3,320   248 

 
2011  9,363   10,286   2,247   1,559  

 
 183  

Profit before tax 2012 588 101 (21) 18 56 37 

 
2011  519   283  31    42   42   68  

Number of 
employees 2012 320 2,197 502 542 49 11 

 
2011  322   2,101   466   454   39   9  

Sales, new cars 2012 46,837 25,839 6,730 7,082     

 
2011  46,688   25,475   7,437   7,232  

  
        Sales, used cars 2012   14,813 5,562 1,685     

 
2011 

 
 14,340   4,615   1,357  
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CEO'S STATEMENT 
 
 
Satisfied customers 
The first item on the agenda at all 
our Board and management 
meetings has for many years been 
customer satisfaction. Initially, we 
thought this would add important 
symbolic value to the systematic 
work in all areas of the business. It 
was also clear to us that there was 
a lot that was not good enough 
when it came to our customers. 
Some symbolism would be healthy 
to highlight the importance of a 
number of demanding initiatives 
and improvements. 
Sometimes a symbolic policy has 
an important function. We will 
therefore retain this as the 
number one item on the agenda 
for the foreseeable future. The 
progress we have experienced in 
customer satisfaction surveys in 
recent years has been 
considerable. However, there are 
still many areas we have to 
improve in. Improvement is of 
course not just due to symbolic 
policies, it is because we have 
managed to put so much focus on 
efforts to make our customers 
happy, and on implementing a 
large number of practical 
improvements. This has helped us 
reach a very high level. We will 
continue to build on the good 
work we have implemented, safe 
in the knowledge that what was 
good enough yesterday will not be 
good enough tomorrow. 
We have for a long time focused 
particularly on the aftersales 
market. The competition has 
become notably stronger, and we 
have significant potential in 
visualising our competitive 
advantage and our 
competitiveness. 

2012 
The results for 2012 are very 
satisfactory as a whole. Harald A. 
Møller AS, importer of 
Volkswagen, Audi and Skoda in 
Norway, has had particularly good 
results. The market performance 
for all brands is generally very 
strong. Volkswagen, which is the 

strongest brand for the seventh 
year in a row, and Volkswagen 
Golf, the most popular car model 
for the fifth year in a row, shows 
an organisation with a strong 
desire and ability to be the best. 
Volkswagen commercial vehicles 
have consolidated a strong 
position based on very good 
products and an organisation that 
specialises in a high level of 
expertise to serve demanding 
customers.  
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS 
also had good results. The 
company enjoyed strong growth 
in recent years and at the end of 
last year had net value assets 
worth NOK 8.5 billion and is one 
of the biggest players in car 
financing in Norway. 
 The dealership results are more 
mixed despite a good turnover in 
new cars and good performances 
on the servicing market. Much is 
due to the challenging used car 
market, as a result of a major 
surplus of newer used cars in 
Europe. Some results are also due 
to irregular or weak performances 
from individual dealers. This 
applies in both Norway and 
Sweden. In the Baltics the market 
continues to be weak and with 
limited turnover. Equally, we can 
note solid progress with several of 
our dealers, particularly from the 
companies we acquired in 2011 
and 2012. Property has entered a 
strong growth phase and its 
results are in line with 
expectations. 

Real estate 
Throughout 2011 and 2012 we 
began building a portfolio of 
commercial property unrelated to 
cars. This has resulted in 
investments of approximately  
NOK one billion in mainly retail 
and office property with long 
rental contracts and good tenants. 
Three years of strong results from 
the car business has enabled us to 
position ourselves for increased 
activity   

Improvement is of 
course not just due to 
symbolic policies, it is 
because we have 
managed to put so 
much focus on efforts 
to make our customers 
happy, and on 
implementing a large 
number of practical 
improvements. 
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with development projects. 
Consequently we acquired a large 
property in Harbitz at Hoff in Oslo, 
where reguation of the property is 
ongoing. As of early 2013, it looks 
like this will become a 
combination of offices, 
commercial and residential 
properties, and perhaps a school, 
which we have offered to build for 
the Municipality of Oslo. The 
project is expected to run for 
several years, Together with 
Mustad Eiendom we have also 
started building two car 
dealership in Lilleaker in Oslo on 
both sides of Ring 3. We have 
some land that was originally 
acquired for the car business 
which we are now considering for 
other development opportunities.  
Over the last two years we have 
made significant investments in 
reducing our energy consumption. 
This has resulted in major savings 
and a substantial reduction of our 
environmental impact. The 
organisation has been significantly 
strengthening its work within real 
estate in 2012 and will continue to 
grow in 2013 as a result of 
increased activity and complexity. 

2013 and the future 
The uncertainty surrounding 
economic development in many 
ways remains the same as a year 
ago. Norway continues to feel 
relatively unaffected by the crisis 
in Europe. Sweden is doing well. 
The Baltic countries are more 
directly affected as a result of 
their small and sensitive export 
industry, which mostly exports to 
Europe. 
The car business area has grown 
rapidly in the last 10 years and 
particularly in Sweden and the 
Baltics.  The work on integrating a 
new business has become much 
more intensive. It is a long 

demanding process as we have 
tosucceed in building our culture 
and our values in all aspects. 
Further growth will be assessed, 
but in the short-term the clear 
priority is to consolidate the 
growth we have already achieved.  
Our company is characterised by 
many operating units, which must 
to a large extent be run as 
independent profit units. We have 
also built up successful shared 
functions in some of the areas.  
Just as important is to 
acknowledge the need for a large 
number of highly competent 
managers. Developing our 
managers and recruiting new ones 
is therefore an area of high 
priority.     
Over 65 years MøllerGruppen has 
built up a close and professional 
relationship with the Volkswagen 
Group. Our ambition to be the 
leading car company in Northern 
Europe is closely connected to the 
Volkswagen Group's target of 
becoming the world's largest and 
best car manufacturer by 2018. In 
what are generally hard times for 
the world's car manufacturers, 
Volkswagen has shown resilience 
and is clearly the most successful 
car manufacturer.  
 
Our ambition is realistic, but 
depends on us having the best 
employees. Talented, satisfied 
employees gives satisfied 
customers - and MøllerGruppen 
must have the most satisfied 
customers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pål Syversen 
Group CEO  
MøllerGruppen AS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Our ambition is realistic, 
but depends on us 
having the best 
employees. Talented, 
satisfied employees 
gives satisfied customers 
– and MøllerGruppen 
must have the most 
satisfied customers. 
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT 
 
 
THE NATURE, SCOPE AND 
LOCATION OF THE GROUP 
 
MøllerGruppen is legally 
organized into two financially 
independent legal areas, 
MøllerGruppen Bil and 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom (real 
estate). The car business operates 
sales, servicing and damage repair 
on Volkswagen, Volkswagen 
Commercial Vehicles, Audi and 
Skoda in Norway, Sweden and the 
Baltics. The company's strategy is 
to grow with the Volkswagen 
Group's brands. The real estate 
business has been based on 
owning and running the car 
group's car facilities. In recent 
years, a new strategy has been 
created, the objective of which is 
to build up a significant portfolio 
of commercial property outside 
car-related buildings as well. The 
idea is to create a stable bread 
and butter business alongside the 
more volatile car business, which 
can also contribute to long-term 
value creation. To achieve this 
strategy, significant capital has 
been allocated, and the property 
business was significantly 
strengthened during 2011 and 
2012.  

Operationally MøllerGruppen is 
run as a Group with a Group 
management structure.   The 
Group is organized into six 
business areas: Car import, Car 
dealers Norway, Car dealers 
Sweden, Cars Baltics, Car finance 
and Real estate.  Car Baltics 
consists of car dealers and 
importers in the Baltics. These two 
units are gathered in one business 
unit under shared management. 
The reason for this is that given 
the company's current phase in 
these countries, there is a great 

need to co-ordinate activities and 
focus areas across importers and 
dealers. Car dealers operate in 
Norway and Sweden under the 
chain name Møller Bil, while dealers 
in the Baltics operate under the 
chain name Møller Auto.  Dealers in 
Norway, Sweden and the Baltics are 
run as independent units as they 
also differ significantly on a 
development and maturity level as 
dealer chains. There is coordination 
and experience is exchanged where 
appropriate. The long-term strategy 
is to build a common international 
dealer chain. The car finance 
business is based in Norway and run 
through the company Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans, a jointly controlled 
company with Volkswagen Financial 
Services AG.  

The owners' tradition of active 
ownership over the long term 
perspective with a view to creating 
satisfactory value development with 
acceptable risk is managed by the 
parent company MøllerGruppen AS. 
The parent company must have a 
debt-free capital base for the 
business areas and for the owners of 
MøllerGruppen. The Group has a 
management model whereby each 
business area is cultivated with an 
emphasis on independent 
responsibility and authority within 
the agreed strategies and targets for 
long-term value development. 
Meanwhile, shared functions and 
economies of scale are adopted 
across the business areas where 
appropriate. 

MACRO ECONOMICS AND 
FRAMEWORK CONDITIONS 
 
The global macro economy has 
continued with a relatively stable 
but weak growth through 2012, and 
economic development continues to 

be uncertain, particularly in Europe 
as a result of the debt crisis in a 
number of countries. Generally, 
most markets show relatively low 
economic growth, low inflation, 
relatively high unemployment and 
very low rates of interest.  Thanks to 
its strong state finances, Norway is 
doing better than other parts of 
Europe. Low interest rates and low 
unemployment have resulted in a 
very good car market in 2012. In 
Sweden the economic development 
has been weaker than the last 
couple of years as a result of the 
export industry's exposure to 
Europe. This has resulted in a 
weaker car market, but sales have 
still been in excess of the historical 
average. The Baltics had low but 
stable growth in 2012. The economy 
has stabilised in these countries, but 
has continued at low levels 
compared with before the financial 
crisis. Estonia has had the best 
economic development, while 
Latvia continues to be the country 
most lagging behind in this region. 

There were no substantial changes 
in the tax systems or framework 
condition in our markets. In Norway 
we see, however, that the 
automotive industry still has to deal 
with relatively unpredictable tax 
policies. The 2012 budget 
introduced an NOx tax combined 
with a slight reduction in the 
performance fee. This also caused 
uncertainty whether several of the 
larger cities would introduce a ban 
on diesel cars on particularly cold 
days. However, it looks unlikely to 
happen. This uncertainty has led to 
a switch in sales from diesel to 
petrol cars, although no more than 
usual and so that in 2012 the 
number of diesel cars sold still 
exceeded petrol cars. Our brand is 
well positioned with products for 
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both petrol and diesel so that we 
do not expect further changes to 
significantly affect our market 
position.  
 
Norway has Europe's most 
favourable tax system for electric 
cars. It is now established that it 
will be maintained until at least 
2015. Thanks to the tax system, a 
relatively large number of electric 
cars have been sold. This is a 
development we are following 
closely.  The Volkswagen Group 
will in the coming year introduce 
more new products within this 
segment, particularly chargeable 
hybrid cars, which will have a 
larger consumer area than purely 
electric cars. We are optimistic 
that our brand will continue to 
gain a significant share of this 
market. 
 
Unpredictability in the regulatory 
framework for the automotive 
industry in Norway is a concern. 
As Norway's largest car importer, 
we are working through the 
national Automobile Importers 
Association (BIL) towards political 
circles to highlight facts about 
environmental emissions from 
cars, so that political initiatives 
can be predictable and as accurate 
as possible in terms of the desired 
environmental effect. BIL has in 
2012 in this regard prepared a 
document, "Socio-economic and 
car policy programme" which is 
used as a basis for discussion with 
the authorities on appropriate 
environmental policies for cars.  

The car market 
In 2012, 137 967 new cars were 
registered in Norway, a slight 
reduction of 0.3 percent 
compared with 2011. The total 
number of commercial vehicles 
reached 31,850 cars, a reduction 
of 10.3 percent. The sale of cars in 
Sweden closed at 279,478 
compared with 304 801 cars in 
2011. In Sweden the commercial 
vehicle market suffered a strong 
downturn of 7,000 cars and closed 
at 39,279 cars. The car business in 
the Baltics increased in 2012 by 3 
percent and closed at 49,120 cars.  

The real estate market 
Norway has seen significant activity 
in the transaction market in 2012 
with several large transactions. With 
a volume in excess of NOK 50 billion, 
the turnover in 2012 was in line with 
the turnover in 2007. For office 
property, there continues to be an 
increase in the rental level in central 
city areas, but towards the end of 
the year there were indications that 
rental prices were levelling out. 
Financing of commercial properties 
continues to be limited, mainly as a 
result of the leading banks seeking 
reduced exposure to commercial 
property. In 2012, this was 
compensated by financing through 
the bond market. Despite the 
reduced willingness among banks to 
take risks, interest in well-located 
properties and reliable tenants on 
long-term contracts continues. This 
also applies to development 
properties with the option for 
residential development. These 
properties/land had a significant 
value development during 2012. As 
a result of a number of commercial 
and office properties being 
converted to residential properties, 
and a reduction in square metres 
compared with 2012/11, the 
pressure on rental prices per m2 
remains unchanged. It is anticipated 
in the near future that this will affect 
the rental level of office properties 
close to large city development 
projects. For individual transactions, 
a yield moving down towards five 
percent has been noted, unchanged 
from 2011. 
 
Annual report 
2012 was a very good year for 
MøllerGruppen with the highest 
turnover and the second best result 
to date. It was the car imports in 
Norway that mainly contributed to 
the strong result as a consequence 
of a very strong new car market and 
particularly strong market 
performances. The dealer business 
in Norway and Sweden showed a 
profit decline due to reduced 
margins on used cars and increased 
costs in general. Real estate also 
revealed lower profits than the 
previous year, as a result of 
increased interest income and 

administration costs. This follows 
the strategy for long-term fixed 
interest rates and building up a 
larger property organisation for 
developing and managing a greater 
property portfolio. Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans (financial services) 
had the best result to date as a 
result of very high sales, good net 
rates and low losses. 

The accounts for MøllerGruppen 
includes the result of the 
subsidiaries, and the Group's share 
of the result associated of the 
associated companies.  

Consolidated, MøllerGruppen shows 
a total revenue of NOK 18,817 
million compared to NOK 18,088 
million in 2011.  The increase in 
turnover is due to the particularly 
strong development in new car 
sales in Norway, as well as the 
purchase of dealer companies in 
Estonia in May 2011 and in Latvia in 
January 2012. Profit before tax was 
NOK 828.5 million compared with 
NOK 924.6 million in 2011. Tax 
payable amounted to NOK 224.3 
million. Deferred tax shows a net 
amount of NOK 6.4 million, which 
gives a total tax cost of  
 NOK 230.7 million.  Net profit was 
thus NOK 597.9 million. The total 
cash flow measured in terms of 
EBITDA amounted to NOK 1,093 
million compared with NOK 1,075 
million in 2011. The net cash flow 
from operations was NOK 379.7 
million compared with NOK 265.8 
million in 2011.  Cash flow from 
operations is significantly lower 
than EBITDA because this includes 
income taxes, finance expenses  and 
changes in working capital. 

The Board is satisfied with the 
positive result and the strong 
market performances that the 
Group has delivered in 2012.  

Capital expenditures, liquidity and 
funding 
The Group's investments amounted 
to NOK 1,060.0 million in 2012, an 
increase of NOK 345.1 million on 
the previous year. Investments in 
property amounted to NOK 895.5 
million. During the period, fixed 
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assets sold for NOK 44.6 million. 
Stock of new and used cars at the 
end of 2012 was 
 NOK 2,453.2 million. This is an 
increase of 9.8 percent from 2011. 
Other stock amounted to NOK 
233.6 million, which remains 
unchanged from the previous 
year.  

The Group's financing is split into 
two, in operating capital for the 
car business and long-term 
mortgage loans for the property 
business. The car business is 
financed through short-term 
overdraft facilities and a multi-
currency loan agreement with a 
limit of NOK 1 000 million, which 
expires in July 2016. As of 31 
December 2012 no withdrawals 
had been made from this facility. 
The car business was net cash 
positive with NOK 60 million as of 
31.12.2012.  

The property business is financed 
with long-term mortgage debt 
totalling NOK 1,507.9 million. In 
addition, it has signed an 
agreement for a three-year credit 

facility of NOK 200 million, which 
expires in July 2014. The credit 
facility will be used for ongoing 
operations and development of new 
properties. As of 31.12.2012, NOK 
35 million had been withdrawn from 
the facility. For short-term liquidity 
management, a short-term 
overdraft facility has been set up in 
the respective countries. The total 
net interest-bearing debt for the 
property business was NOK 1,530.8 
million as of 31.12.2012. 

As of 3 December 2012, share 
capital for the Group comprised 
NOK 5,528.4 million corresponding 
to  
56.1 percent of the total capital. The 
liquidity situation is very strong and 
the Group's cash stock balances 
more or less with the Group's gross 
debt so that net interest-bearing 
debt is only NOK 81.4 million. This 
gives MøllerGruppen a very strong 
financial position. 

The Group's dealers have obligations 
of a total of NOK 3,534 million 
associated with the repurchase of 
cars from the finance companies. 

This is an increase of 12.1 percent 
from 2011. There is a market-based 
risk of the market price of cars being 
lower than the guaranteed 
repurchase value. Provisions have 
been made for possible losses in the 
portfolio. The Board is of the 
opinion that the risk is under 
control based on the current 
financial position and market 
conditions. 

When importing cars and parts the 
transaction currency used is the 
euro, except for imports of Škoda, 
where payment is made in 
Norwegian kroner. Prices in euro 
are regulated according to currency 
agreements with the individual 
suppliers, which involves most of 
the risk being covered by the 
supplier. MøllerGruppen carries the 
transaction risk within one month, 
as well as a long-term strategic risk 
associated with the euro zone's 
competitiveness. To reduce short-
term risk, forward contracts and 
options are used. In addition, the 
Group's investments in Sweden and 
the Baltic are subject to currency 
fluctuations. By the end of 2012, 

The Board of Directors in MøllerGruppen AS 
From the left: Owner Øyvind Schage Førde, Chairman and owner Harald Møller, civil engineer/consultant 
Tine Wollebekk, Group CEO MøllerGruppen Pål Syversen, owner Jan Møller, owner and director Møller 
Baltics Jon Morten Møller, CEO Statoil Fuel & Retail Jacob Schram, owner, doctor and child- and adolescent 
psychiatrist Anne Catrine Møller, partner and Board Manager DLA Piper Henning Øglænd. 
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these investments are not hedged 
beyond that debt financing 
activities are recorded in local 
currency.  
 
Real estate financing is based on 
floating interest rates, which 
means that the Group's financing 
costs are subject to risks 
associated with changes in 
interest rates in Norway, Sweden 
and the Baltic States. This risk is 
hedged by entering long-term 
fixed rate agreements for at least 
50 percent of the debt. For further 
information on financial 
covenants and risk, see note 22. 
 
Legal structure and transactions 
in the financial year. 
On 21 December 2011 a share 
purchase agreement was signed 
with the Kittner Group for the 
takeover of the Volkswagen 
business with associated 
properties in Latvia. The 
acquisition also includes two areas 
of land in Tallinn. The transaction 
was finally completed on 26 
January 2012, so that was 
recorded in 2012. 

In March 2012 MøllerGruppen 
Eiendom acquired 21 percent of 
A.L. Industries in order to position 
themselves to overtake the 
subsidiary A.L Eiendomsutvikling 
AS where the main asset is a 
development area in Harbitz 
alléen in Oslo. This company was 
acquired in May 2012. In addition, 
during 2012 4 purely property 
companies were acquired in 
Norway and one in Sweden. 

A total of NOK 529.6 million has 
been invested in the acquisition of 
companies in 2012 distributed as 
NOK 527.8 million to 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom and NOK 
1.8 million to MøllerGruppen Bil. 

BUSINESS AREA 

Car imports Norway: 
Harald A. Møller AS, the importer 
of Volkswagen, Audi, and Škoda, 
had total revenues of NOK 9,813.5 
million, an increase of 4.8 percent 
from 2011. Gross profit in 2012 

was NOK 587.7 million compared to 
NOK 518.7 million in 2011.  This 
result is the company's best ever 
and is due to a rise in new car sales 
and good margins in all parts of the 
business. Meanwhile costs have 
been kept relatively low in relation 
to volume growth. Harald A. Møller 
AS retained its position as the 
largest car importer, and our car 
brands had a total market share of 
27.6 percent of the Norwegian 
passenger car and commercial 
vehicle market. Volkswagen was the 
most sold passenger car seventh 
year in a row, and Volkswagen Golf 
was the most popular car model for 
the fifth year in a row in 2012. Škoda 
historically had a good year with a 
market share of 4.9 percent. This is 
somewhat down from its record 
year in 2011, where market share 
was 5.5 percent. Audi had a positive 
year with a market share of 6.0 
percent, up from 5.3 percent in 
2011. Volkswagen Commercial 
Vehicles had a fantastic year with a 
record market share of 35.1 percent, 
up from 30.4 percent from the 
previous year. In 2012 sales of parts 
and accessories increased by 2.0 
percent.  Operating costs comprised 
10.0 percent of operating costs, 
which is 1.2 percent lower than in 
2011. Net financial costs are low, as 
a result of a strong cash flow and 
low rates on operational credits. 
 
Car dealers in Norway:  
MøllerGruppen owns a significant 
part of the dealer network through 
Møller Bil AS. For Volkswagen and 
Audi, the chain Møller Bil covers 
around 60 percent of the Norwegian 
market, with focus on the biggest 
cities. Skoda has a 45 percent share 
approximately. Car dealers had a 
total increase in revenues of 4.5 
percent in 2012 to NOK 10,748.3 
million, which gave a pre-tax profit 
of NOK 100.6 million - compared 
with last year's NOK 282.6 million. 
As part of brand separation between 
Volkswagen and Audi at Skøyen, a 
new structure for a car facility was 
needed in Oslo Vest. This is work 
that has taken a long time and has 
been very uncertain due to the 
many different alternative solutions. 
There has therefore been a need to 
keep several alternative solutions 

open, while it is clearly also going to 
be expensive to have two prestige 
showrooms for both Audi and 
Volkswagen. Plans for the 
construction are now ready and the 
accounts therefore take into 
account a cost provision of 
 NOK 41.5 million. 
The decrease in profit from the 
previous year was also due to lower 
margins and higher loss provisions 
on used cars. As a result of high 
imports of used cars and a large 
supply of used cars, 2012 saw 
considerable pressure on used car 
prices. The margins for new cars 
and the aftersales market have 
been relatively stable throughout 
2012. Costs have generally 
increased after several years with 
high activity, especially in demo 
cars.  

Møller Bil has shown a very positive 
development in customer 
satisfaction throughout 2012, both 
in sales and on the aftersales 
market.  The Board is satisfied with 
this positive development as a 
result of several years of hard work 
and focus on this area. Customer 
satisfaction is crucial for the chain's 
success and continued 
improvement opportunities. This 
work will continue in 2013. There 
will also be focus on reducing costs 
from a level that was too high in 
2012. 

Car dealers in Sweden: 
MøllerGruppen owns approx. 9 
percent of the dealer network that 
sells Volkswagen brands in Sweden. 
The business is distributed across 10 
dealers in Mälardalen.  The dealer 
business in Sweden had revenues 
totalling NOK 2,233 million in 2012, 
a slight decrease of 0.6 percent 
compared with 2011. The turnover 
of new cars has fallen somewhat as 
a result of a weaker market overall. 
The turnover of used cars was 
higher than in 2011. This is partly 
due to clearing stock that was too 
high and old, at the start of the 
year. The aftersales market 
turnover has shown a positive 
growth of 0.5 percent. The pre-tax 
profit was very weak with a loss of 
NOK 20.6 million compared with a 
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profit of NOK 31.4 million in 2011. 
Earnings were impacted by a one-
time depreciation of NOK 13.5 
million in connection with the 
demolition and reconstruction of 
the car showroom in Vasteras. In 
addition, Norway experienced 
considerable pressure on margins 
for used cars, which has led to a 
gross profit reduced by over NOK 
20 million in 2012 compared with 
2011.  Also in Sweden the costs 
have increased too much, which 
explains the negative result. 
Margins in the aftersales market 
have however been somewhat 
better in 2012 than in 2011.  
Individual dealers in Sweden face 
challenges in relation to targets 
within customer satisfaction, 
particularly in the servicing 
market. Work is actively being 
done to improve this, among 
other things by comparing and 
coordinating measures with 
Møller Bil Norge. There has been a 
positive development in both the 
sales and aftersales market in the 
last six month of 2012 

Baltic cars IMPORT: 
MøllerGruppen imports 
Volkswagen in all the Baltic 
countries and Audi in Latvia and 
Lithuania. The Baltic states have 
been characterised by a weak yet 
stable economic development in 
2012. The car market appears to 
have stabilised at the same level 
as in 2005, which seems to be a 
more sustainable level than in the 
years before the financial crisis in 
2008. Overall revenues from the 
import business, including sales to 
own dealers, was NOK 1,157.0 
million, a drop of 17.4 percent 
from 2011. The main reason for 
this was that individual dealers 
had operated with re-exports to 
unauthorised dealers, which 
violates the dealer contract. As a 
result two dealers have resigned, 
and this has lead to a drop in sales 
volume for the importer. The 
result was a pre-tax profit of NOK 
25.6 million compared with a 
profit of NOK 42.7 million in 2011. 
The reduction is due to reduced 
volume.  
 

Volkswagen passenger cars have a 
market share of 13.2 percent, while 
Audi has a market share of 2.5 
percent. Volkswagen Commercial 
vehicles have a market share of 12.9 
percent. The market shares are 
somewhat better or at the same 
level as in 2011, and Volkswagen 
Commercial Vehicles in particular 
have seen a major potential for 
improvement. 

Baltic cars DEALERS: 
Following the acquisition of Saksa 
Auto in 2011 MøllerGruppen had a 
dealer presence for Volkswagen in 
all three Baltic countries, and with 
Audi in Lithuania and Latvia. The 
acquisition of Saksa Auto also led to 
three smaller showrooms with 
Skoda in Estonia. In January 2012, a 
contract was signed for the 
acquisition of Volkswagen dealers in 
Riga and Ventspils in Latvia. The 
financial crisis hit our dealer chain in 
the Baltics particularly badly. During 
2011 and 2012, the situation has 
stabilised, but on a relatively low 
level compared with the years 
before the financial crisis. In total 
the revenues for the chain rose from 
NOK 813.4 million to NOK 1,165.4 
million. This is due to both 
acquisitions of Volkswagen dealers 
in Latvia, and a newly opened 
Volkswagen dealer in Riga in autumn 
of 2011. The pre-tax result was a 
loss of NOK 7.7 million compared 
with a profit of NOK 1.1 million in 
2011. The drop is due to increased 
costs, particularly because of 
restructuring of acquired 
companies. The last two acquisitions 
have given MøllerGruppen a very 
strong strategic position in the Baltic 
countries, but significant work is still 
required to integrate the new units 
and develop the chain to replicate 
what has been achieved in Norway 
and Sweden.  
 
Real estate:  
MøllerGruppen Eiendom owns most 
of the buildings associated with the 
Group's car business. The total 
rental area associated with the car 
business is 259.000 m2,  
distributed as 158,000 in Norway, 
71,000 in Sweden and 30,000 in the 
Baltics. The Group also has  
53,000 m2 of commercial property, 
mainly in Norway and Sweden. 

Revenues for MøllerGruppen 
Eiendom were NOK 247.7 million in 
2012, compared with 183.1 in 2011. 
The increase is due to new 
investments and annual rent 
regulations. Profit before tax was 
NOK 37.4 million compared with 
NOK 67.8 million in 2011. The main 
reason for the drop in profits is due 
to increased finance costs as a 
result of refinancing the real estate 
Group in July 2011, where the 
Group went from being financed by 
short-term fluctuating rates to long-
term mortgage debt with longer 
secured interest rates. In addition, 
administration costs have increased 
in order to achieve the strategy of 
significantly increasing the property 
portfolio outside car facilities. 
Acquisition, development and the 
sale of properties are an integrated 
part of the company. A pre-requisite 
for the dealer contracts is that sales 
and servicing of new cars  
take place in premises that meet 
the Volkswagen Group's standards. 
The work on upgrading car 
properties began in 1995, and has 
entailed significant investments.  In 
Norway and the Baltics, the car 
buildings have been relatively 
updated, so that investments in the 
coming years will mainly be 
associated with new construction. 
In Sweden, however, the Groups 
faces a relatively large construction 
project to adapt the buildings to 
current requirements. In 2012, NOK 
232.4 million were invested in the 
automotive business. Investments 
associated with commercial 
properties outside the automative 
industry were NOK 663.1 million in 
2012. The Group's biggest 
investment was a 25,000 m² large 
site at Skøyen in Oslo. The 
investment in the land was NOK 400 
million, and will form the basis for a 
large development project with 
exciting potential.  

Financial services:  
Since 2009, the business has been 
run through Volkswagen Møller 
Bilfinans AS, a joint venture 
between Volkswagen Financial 
Services and MøllerGruppen. The 
company sells car finance and 
insurance products in Norway. 
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MøllerGruppens equity comprises 
49 percent. In addition Møller-
Gruppen owns 49 percent of 
Møller Bilfinans AS, which is a 
joint venture with SEB. This 
company has no operation of its 
own beyond closing down existing 
finance portfolios. During 2013, 
the portfolio is expected to be so 
small that the remaining portfolio 
will be transferred to Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans.  In 2012 the 
results from these two companies 
therefore fell in car finance, and 
the Group's share of the pre-tax 
profit comprised a total of NOK 
56.4 million compared with NOK 
42.0 million the previous year. The 
result is historically positive and is 
due to a high volume growth, 
continued relative good interest 
rate margins and low losses. The 
company is also run very cost-
effectively. Confirmed losses and 
loss depreciations corresponding 
to 0.31 percent of the year's 
corresponding 0.31 percent of the 
year's average administration 
capital. This is a slight fall from 
2011, where the corresponding 
figure was 0.34 percent. 
 
The high sales of new cars led to a 
significantly increased demand for 
finance services, compared with 
2011, the total capital increased 
by 21.3 percent to  
NOK 8,560 million as of 31 
December 2012.  

PERSONNEL AND WORKING 
ENVIRONMENT 
 
MøllerGruppen works continually 
and systematically with the 
working environment, checking 
employee welfare, how 
employees can maximise their 
skills and be monitored.  The new 
employee survey that measures 
both employee commitment and 
compliance with core values was 
conducted in 5 countries and in 5 
languages in the autumn of 2012.  
The response percentage was 84 
percent, which was considered 
positive as many employees do 
not have access to their own PC.  
At the end of 2012, the total 
number of employees in the 
Group was 3,677, an increase of 
233 compared with the previous 

year.  Sweden had 502, the 3 Baltic 
countries a total of 542 and in 
Norway  
2,633. 
The share of women in the Group is 
relatively stable. The share of 
women in Norway was approx. 15% 
at the end of 2012, a figure we still 
hope to increase.  We have five 
female managers in Norway, two in 
Sweden, two in Latvia and one in 
Lithuania.  In the Baltics, we have 
employed more well-educated 
young women in recent years, and 
for the first time ever we have a 
majority of women participants in 
our management programme.  This 
is a programme for managers and 
key employees from Estonia and 
Latvia. 
Furthermore, regular management 
programmes for both applicant 
managers and middle managers in 
Norway, and a new talent 
programme for young mechanics 
was initiated in autumn 2012. 
The cultural diversity continues, 
partly through ownership in Estonia, 
Latvia, Lithuania and Sweden, but 
not least through the many 
European nationalities represented 
in the aftersales market in Norway. 
Here we find employees from many 
different nations.  It has not been 
necessary to introduce any special 
measures against discrimination and 
equality in our company. 
 
Strong protection:  
The occupational health service 
(OHS) in the Oslo area have assisted 
managers in all companies in the 
region, and attended AMU 
meetings. The ATT committee for 
Oslo has had three meetings where 
a total of 84 cases have been 
discussed and followed up. 
Cooperation with NAV and GPs has 
been close in terms of following up 
sickness absence. BHT has held 
courses in basic first aid for a total of 
140 employees and Health and 
Safety courses for safety delegates, 
one in Oslo and one in Trondhhem. 
BHT is also used for Health and 
Safety training for apprentices at the 
Møllerbil school. Courses are run in 
Oslo, Hamar and Bergen.  As part of 
our preventative work, we have 
focused on noise, noise 
measurement and hearing testing 
for noise-exposed employees. This 
work continues. 161 employees in 

the Oslo region have been selected 
for health checks by the company 
doctor.  
We have worked to reduce the use 
of harmful chemicals at the 
workshops, by measuring the 
atmosphere at the repair workshop 
in Trondheim, and a thorough 
analysis of isocyanide exposure 
associated with wind shield repairs 
was also conducted, given the 
significant number of wind shield 
repairs in Møller Bil. 
A total of 12 injuries have been 
registered and resulted in medical 
treatment and absence.  This is 
significantly lower than in 2011. 
 
Cooperation with employee 
representatives:  
The collaboration committee (SU) in 
Møller Bil had 3 meetings 
throughout the year and 1 meeting 
with the Group Committee. The 
partnership between the company 
representatives from the trade 
unions and the management are 
characterised by openness and a 
shared vision in most areas, and is 
therefore considered a fruitful and 
useful partnership by both parties.  
The owners are represented by 
Harald Møller and Morten Møller 
attending the meeting with SU in 
the winter of 2012. 
 
COMPANY CULTURE 
 
Core values:  
MøllerGruppen's core values: 
Openness and honesty, 
Resourcefulness, Thoughtfulness 
and Clarity are key to the Group's 
company culture and important 
guidelines for both managers and 
employees in how to treat one 
another and our customers. A new 
core value film presented by 
employees from all five countries 
was produced and shown for the 
first time at the management 
meeting in Vilnius in spring in 2012.  
The film was later distributed to all 
key managers to show to their own 
organisation and a shorter version 
was made for use in Norway for the 
recruitment of new, external 
employees. A "core value kickoff" 
was held in Estonia as part of the 
new business takeover in the 
country. The fact that the new 
employee survey also measures 
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compliance with the core values 
confirms our high priority of 
these.  
 
ENVIRONMENT AND CORPORATE 
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
MøllerGruppen has its own 
department for Information and 
Social Responsibility The 
department is responsible for the 
Group's internal and external 
information, and measures within 
the areas of the environment and 
social responsibility. Our social 
responsibility is an integrated part 
of MøllerGruppen's business. It is 
based on our core values of 
openness, honesty, 
resourcefulness, thoughtfulness 
and clarity. The environment and 
social responsibility have been 
part of the Group's annual report 
for several years now. In 2011 
MøllerGruppen used the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI) format 
for reporting the Group's 
commitment to social 
responsibility, and this continued 
in 2012.  
 
Environment:  
It is our clear ambition to be 
perceived as a leading player in 
terms of the environment in the 
automotive industry. We want to 
be a resource on automotive and 
environmental questions, and 
enable customers to make good 
environmental choices. This allows 
us to help inspire and motivate 
environments outside 
MøllerGruppen to acquire new 
knowledge and develop good 
solutions.  
   
Both internally in the organisation 
and externally, MøllerGruppen 
has over the last decade focused 
on the environment through our 
product strategies, training and 
discussions with social players, 
customers, business partners and 
car manufacturers. 
 
Møller Bil is Norway's biggest and 
first car dealer chain to certify all 
its 41 dealers and 9 repair 
workshops in accordance with the 
Environmental Lighthouse 
standard. This work is expected to 
continue in 2013. Certification of 
Møller Bil's head office in Oslo will 

be completed in the first quarter of 
2013. Møller Bil Asker and Bærum 
opened Norway's first tank facility 
for biogas for passenger cars and 
commercial vehicles. This process 
began back in 2007. Many years of 
solution-oriented work lie behind 
this new development. It has 
involved a close partnership with 
the management in both Asker and 
Bærum municipalities. 
 
Møller Bil Sweden was one of the 
first to have environmentally 
certified all its 10 dealers in Sweden 
in accordance with the ISO 14001 
standard. Environmental 
certification of the Group dealers in 
the Baltics has begun. 
 
Environmental work with importer 
Harald. A. Møller was formalised 
with an approved ISO 14001 
certificate in December 2011. This 
includes the office business at 
Frysja, the central parts and 
accessories warehouse at Skedsmo 
and import warehouse for new cars 
at Bekkelaget in Oslo.  
 
Respect for the environment is also 
firmly rooted in MøllerGruppen 
Eiendom, through its focus on 
energy efficiency measures over 
many years. 2012 saw significant 
investments in the reduction of 
energy consumption. Since the start 
of the project the Group has 
reduced energy consumption by an 
estimated 7.0 GWh. 
 
Environmental responsibility:  
MøllerGruppen businesses 
contribute to investment in future 
talent. The Møller Bil School is 
recognised as a training 
establishment with professional 
college status and currently has 71 
students. They receive targeted 
training during lessons, which focus 
particularly on our procedures and 
core values. Students are trained in 
the latest technology and 
equipment. MøllerGruppen is also 
one of Norway's biggest 
apprenticeship companies with 
close to 200 apprentices in our 
Møller-Bil workshops. Our goal is to 
transfer our skills and our approach 
to projects and through this inspire 
and motivate young people to build 
a good foundation for their own 
future.  

As part of our social responsibility, 
we have also chosen to support 
organisations and initiatives that 
contribute to a more generous and 
better society. We are particularly 
proud of our partnerships with the 
Church's City mission project "Lønn 
som fortjent", the Red Cross 
initiative "Holiday for all" and 
Christian Radich. 
 
”Lønn som fortjent” (salary as 
deserved) under the auspices of the 
Church's City mission give addicts a 
job to go to and are paid in cash the 
same day. Some of them make glass 
angels. MøllerGruppen has been 
supporting this project since 2007 
through its purchase of 5 000 glass 
angels  
 
”Ferie For Alle” (Holiday for all) give 
children and parents from poorer 
backgrounds the chance of a week's 
holiday during the school holidays 
at one of the activity centres at the 
Red Cross. The Group has supported 
this project financially since 2007, 
and 38 employees have taken part 
as volunteers on more than 50 
holidays. This has enabled more 
than 8,000 children and their 
parents to have a week's holiday.  
 
Since 2000 MøllerGruppen has 
supported the Norwegian maritime 
heritage through the use and 
financial support of the full rigged 
ship Christian Radich. The ship 
played a key role in the celebration 
of MøllerGruppen's 75th 
anniversary in 2011 in Norway 
Sweden, Estonia, Lithuania and 
Latvia. 
 
Our corporate social responsibility 
contributes to value development, 
proud employees and strengthens 
our reputation. 
 
MØLLERGRUPPEN AS 
 
The holding company, 
MøllerGruppen AS, has a solid 
financial position. The going 
concern assumption has been used 
as the basis for preparing the 2012 
financial statements for 2012, and 
the Board confirms that this 
assumption is in place. It is the 
Board's opinion that the annual 
financial statements and 
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accompanying notes provide 
comprehensive information about 
the company's operations and 
financial position as of 31 
December 2012. There have not 
been any events following the 
year end that would affect the 
company's assessment. In 2012 
MøllerGruppen AS had a net profit 
of NOK 407.6 million, which the 
Board proposes to distribute as 
follows: 
 

Dividend   NOK 175.0 
million 

Transferred to  
other equity 

  NOK 232.6 
million 

Total available   NOK 407.6 
million 

 
The company has NOK 4,297.4 
million in non-restricted equity as 
of 31 December 2012. The total 
recorded equity comprises NOK 
4,796.8 million. The company had 
19 employees as of 31 December 
2012, of which 8 are women. The 
working environment is good and 
the company does not pollute the 
surrounding environment. The 
company's head office is in Oslo. 
 
PROSPECTS FOR 2013 AND 
BEYOND 
 
In 2012 the sale of new cars was 
going well in Norway, whereas in 
Sweden and the Baltics sales fell 
slightly. Used car sales have been 
strong in all markets, but margins 
have been consistently weak as a 
result of the supply of used cars 
being too high. In Norway the 
strong market for new cars is 
expected to continue into 2013, 
despite expectations of a slight fall 
compared to the previous year. In 
Sweden the market is expected to 

drop back to normal levels in 2013, 
while in the Baltics slight growth is 
expected based on the 
macroeconomy, which appears to 
have stabilised after the financial 
crisis. As a result of the weak 
situation in Europe, continued 
pressure on margins in the used cars 
sector is expected due to the 
relatively large import of used cars. 
Internationally, China and the US 
continue to have a positive 
development in the car market 
while large parts of Europe continue 
to face the challenge of falling car 
sales, particularly as a result of the 
debt crisis in several major 
countries.  

In the property market a stable 
development is expected in our 
markets. Low interest rates and a 
continued slight improvement in 
unemployment will contribute to 
this. The uncertainty associated with 
the financial crisis and how this will 
affect the banks still means the risk 
is greatest on the lower side 
compared with the current market.  

There is considerable uncertainty 
associated with the future 
development of the world economy. 
There seems to be broad agreement 
that the financial crisis in a number 
of major countries will dampen 
global growth, but the debt situation 
will also lead to new major financial 
setbacks. Political unrest associated 
with the oil market is also an 
important factor that can affect the 
world economy negatively in years 
to come. Meanwhile there are still 
positive signs that the employment 
markets in large countries, such as 
the US, are improving. There is also 
uncertainty associated with the 
financial development in the US in 

association with the major budget 
cuts implemented as a result of lack 
of political agreement surrounding 
economic policies in the country. 
Any major negative consequences 
of this will affect the world 
economy and thereby also our 
markets. 

The Board is moderately optimistic 
about the car and property markets 
in our geographic areas. The 
prospect of continued low interest 
rates and an improvement in 
unemployment will contribute to a 
continued positive development of 
the economic situation in these 
countries, perhaps with the 
exception of Sweden, which might 
suffer a slight decline in 2013. 

After a year of relatively high 
iinvestment, a more moderate level 
of investment is expected in 2013. 
This applies particularly within the 
property business, where there will 
be increased focus on developing 
own projects in the balance sheet 
rather than investments in 
completed property.  

Overall, profits are expected to fall 
slightly from 2012 as a result of 
reduced volumes in Norway and 
Sweden, while pressure on margins 
and costs are to be expected in 
2013. It is the Board's general 
opinion that there will be continued 
uncertainty surrounding important 
framework conditions that are 
outside the company's control This 
applies to the economic picture, but 
also to some extent the car 
manufacturer's arrangements and 
the authorities' influence through 
laws, taxes and fees.  
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INCOME STATEMENT
Amount in NOK 1 000 

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 Note 2012 2011

OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 18 320 662 17 615 187

76 062 4 759 Other revenue 496 646 472 700
76 062 4 759 1 Total revenue 18 817 308 18 087 887

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 14 463 692 13 814 967

42 078 59 055 2 Salary and other staff costs 1 969 755 1 849 379
2 019 1 911 7 Depreciations 191 575 157 597

20 863 11 960 3 Other operating expenses 1 390 052 1 397 118
64 960 72 926 Total operating expenses 18 015 074 17 219 061

11 102 (68 167) OPERATING PROFIT 802 234 868 826

FINANCIAL ITEMS
348 500 63 500 4 Income from investment in subsiduaries

6 Income from investment in associated companies 57 671 48 452
4 692 14 885 Interest rates from companies in the same Group

44 657 37 257 17 Other financial revenue 86 902 117 584
(182) (5 212) 17 Other financial expenses (118 276) (110 287)

397 667 110 430 Total financial items 26 297 55 749

408 769 42 263 PROFIT BEFORE TAX 828 531 924 575

(1 127) 1 092 23 Taxes (230 680) (227 582)
407 642 43 355 NET PROFIT 597 851 696 993

of which: 
Majority 552 681 631 677
Minority 45 170 65 316

Suggestions for dispositions in MøllerGruppen AS:

175 000 200 000 Dividends
232 642 (156 645) Transferred to /(from) other equity
407 642 43 355 Disposed



BALANCE SHEET+A124 as of 31.12
Amount in NOK 1 000 

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 Note 2012 2011

ASSETS
7 Intangible assets 62 092 48 729

1 062 23 Deferred tax benefits 170 382 189 151
7 Goodwill 106 479 121 271

0 1 062 Total intangible assets 338 953 359 151

17 967 15 649 7 Fixed operating assets 3 662 930 2 853 518

3 249 494 2 841 858 5 Investments in subsidiaries
6 Investments in associated companies 433 615 483 114

511 8 Investments in shares 2 721 2 928
9 Pension funds 24 610 13 120

6 11 13 Other receivables 39 575 26 569
3 250 011 2 841 869 Total financial assets 500 521 525 731

3 267 978 2 858 580 TOTAL LONG-TERM ASSETS 4 502 404 3 738 400

11 Inventory 2 686 765 2 467 155
13 12 Receivables 825 425 935 340

2 583 3 772 13 Other receivables 297 165 249 490
349 295 63 759 10 Receivables on Group companies
351 891 67 531 Total receivables 1 122 590 1 184 830

736 289 709 404 14 Other financial investments 736 289 709 404

638 009 1 154 345 15 Cash and bank deposits 792 824 1 449 939

1 726 189 1 931 280 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 5 338 468 5 811 328

4 994 167 4 789 860 TOTAL ASSETS 9 840 872 9 549 728

EQUITY
100 000 100 000 16 Share capital 100 000 100 000

4 278 008 4 278 008 Share premium reserve
418 797 186 155 Other equity 5 276 424 4 919 269

Minorities' interest 151 969 179 719
4 796 805 4 564 163 20 TOTAL EQUITY 5 528 393 5 198 988

DEBT
65 23 Deferred tax 24 562 34 913

2 982 6 701 9 Pension liabilities 15 093 24 903
24 Other provisions and contingent liabilities 76 500 35 000

3 047 6 701 Total provisions and obligations 116 155 94 816

Liabilities to financial institutions 1 542 924 1 315 421
Other long-term liabilities 23 589 25 353

21,22 Total long-term liabilities 1 566 513 1 340 774
Liabilities to financial institutions 50 188 45 829

2 097 1 615 Supplier liabilities 425 564 490 906
23 Tax payable 209 449 313 375

3 807 3 005 Due public duties payable 504 719 599 122
175 000 200 000 Dividends 202 666 238 441
12 390 13 007 18 Other short-term liabilities 1 237 225 1 227 477
1 021 1 369 Liabilities to Group companies

194 315 218 996 Current liabilities 2 629 811 2 915 150

197 362 225 697 TOTAL LIABILITIES 4 312 479 4 350 740

4 994 167 4 789 860 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 9 840 872 9 549 728

Oslo, 21 March 2013
For the Board in MøllerGruppen AS

……………………….. ……………………………. ………………..……………………....
Harald  Møller Jan H Møller                        Anne Catrine Møller

Styreleder Board member

……………………….. ……………………………. ………………..……………………....
Jon  Morten Møller      Øyvind Schage Førde

Board member Board member

……………………….. ……………………………. ………………………………………………….
Tine Wollebekk      Jacob Schram
Board member    Board member

Board member

Henning Øglænd
Board member

Pål Syversen
Group CEO



CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Amount in NOK 

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 Note 2012 2011

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
408 769 42 263 Profit before tax 828 531 924 575 

(348 500) (13 500) Recognised dividends / Group contributions
2 019 7 123 Depreciations 191 575 157 597 

(64 090) (307) Gain/loss from sale of assets / companies (5 807) (54 533)
(2 807) Tax payable (328 442) (243 996)

(1 802) 32 772 Own financing 685 857 783 643 
Change in stock (208 351) (618 772)

469 1 615 Change in trade inventories and creditors 40 471 (165 033)
(3 229) (164 635) Change in other items (138 316) 265 964 
(4 562) (130 248) NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 379 661 265 802 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
(6 669) (1 979) Investment in tangible  and intangible assets (471 029) (371 559)
2 895 2 238 Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 44 598 197 933 
(507) (99 958) 25 Proceeds from sale of fixed assets (529 622) (189 732)

(488 202) Payment  share issues subsidiaries
6 Capital paid to associated companies (73 091) (68 600)

144 094 25 Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiary and associated companies 62 229 
6 Proceeds from associated companies 180 134 22 663 

Payments associated with financial assets (4 896) 30 918 
(348 389) (99 699) NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (853 906) (316 148)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New long-term debt 122 806 1 112 602 

(153 600) Payment to shareholders
Capital contributions from shareholders
Payments to minorities (44 709) 14 646 

63 500 Received Group contributions and dividends
(200 000) Paid dividends (238 441) (179 650)
(136 500) (153 600) NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING (160 344) 947 598 

(489 451) (383 547) Change in cash and csh equivalents+E250 throughout the year (634 589) 897 252 
1 863 749 1 146 081 Liquid assets 01.01 2 113 514 1 216 262 

1 101 215 Liquid assets transferred by merger
1 374 298 1 863 749 Liquid assets 31.12 1 478 925 2 113 514 

Specification of liquid assets 31.12:
638 009 1 154 345 Cash and cash equivalents 792 824 1 449 939 
736 289 709 404 Financial investments 736 289 709 404 

Overdraft / current market loans (50 188) (45 829)
1 374 298 1 863 749 Liquid assets 31.12 1 478 925 2 113 514 



ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES                                            
 
Principles for preparing Group accounts 
 
 
The Group accounts show the Group's financial position when the Group companies are treated as one accounting unit. The 
companies that Møller Gruppen have a controlling influence over are consolidated. The consolidated accounts include the 
parent company MøllerGruppen AS and the companies listed in note 5, and their subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the moment control is transferred to the Group (point of purchase) and the consolidation terminates when control of the 
subsidiary terminates. 
 
Elimination of internal transactions 
All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated. Inventories and other business assets are adjusted 
for unrealised profit. 
 
Elimination of shares in subsidiaries 
Shares in subsidiaries are consolidated using the purchase method. The cost price of the shares in the individual subsidiary is 
eliminated against the subsidiary's equity at the point of purchase. The subsequent increased/decreased value is added to the 
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet as increased/reduced value associated with and accounted for during the asset's 
remaining lifetime. Increased/reduced values that cannot be attributed to specific assets or liabilities are recorded as 
goodwill/negative goodwill in the balance sheet and depreciated/recorded as income over the financial lifetime.  
In the case of purchases of subsidiaries with a minority, 100 percent of identifiable assets and debt is recorded in the balance 
sheet, while for the goodwill only the majority share is recorded.  
 
Disposal of subsidiaries  
Where the Group reduces equity interest to 50% or lower, profit/loss is recorded as though the entire company had been sold. 
This means that the remaining equity interest is recorded at its actual value. 
 
Conversion of foreign subsidiaries 
Balance sheet items of foreign subsidiaries are translated using the closing rate, while earnings are translated using the weighted 
average exchange rate. Exchange rate differences relating to foreign subsidiaries are charged to equity.  
 
Minority interests 
Minority interests are extracted as separate items in the income statement and balance sheet. In the income statement the 
minorities' share of the result after tax is calculated and shown. 
 
Minority interests in the balance sheet represent the minorities' share of the companies' equity, taking into account the 
minorities' share of increased / reduced values and internal profits.  
 
Associated companies and shared control companies 
Shares in companies in which the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent, and over which the Group has significant influence 
and the investment is of a long-term nature, are consolidated in accordance with the equity method in the Group accounts. 
This means the Group's share of the result after tax and depreciation of any increased values are recorded under financial 
items and added to the recorded value of the share. Internal sales of operating equipment associated with the company are 
adjusted for internal profit.  
The same principle applies to equity interest in joint venture investments. 
 
Individual equity interest in smaller companies with limited value and results are treated as ordinary share investments, which 
are assessed according to the lowest value of the cost price and the actual value. 
 
 
Accruals, classification and evaluation principles  
 
Fundamental accounting principles 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted 
accounting principles based on the fundamental principles of historical cost, comparability, going concern, congruence and 
prudence. Transactions are recorded at the value of their consideration on the transaction date. Income is recognised when 
earned and expenses are matched with earned income. 
 
Classification of assets and liabilities 
Goods, receivables and liabilities include items due for payment within one year of the acquisition, and items related to the 
business cycle. Current portion of long-term debt due within one year is classified as long-term debt. Other items are classified 
as a current asset or long-term debt.  
 
Estimates 
When assessing income, expenditure, balance sheet items and other liabilities for which there are no market values, estimates 
are used. This applies to assessment of warranty obligations, obsolete inventories, pensions, valuation of properties and 
goodwill, other long-term provisions and deferred losses on repurchase obligations. Future events may lead to changes in the 
estimates. Estimates and underlying conditions are assessed continually. Changes to accountable estimates are recognised in 
the period the change occurs.  



 
Revenue 
The Group sells products and services, which are recorded upon delivery. With the sale of new cars with repurchase contracts, 
the sale is recorded upon delivery. Later repurchases and sale of repurchased cars are recorded as own transactions. Total 
repurchase obligations are detailed in note 21.  
For sale of new cars one-off taxes to the State comprise significant amounts. This is not shown as revenue, but is only 
included as short-term debt in the accounts. The proportion of sales revenue related to future service contracts is recorded as 
deferred revenue on the sale and is recorded later when the services are provided.  
 
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets are stated at cost less ordinary depreciation. Ordinary depreciation and 
amortisation in the income statement is linear and is based on estimates of the economic and technical lifespan. Building loan 
interest rates incurred during the construction period are capitalised. 
 
Upon indication that the recorded amount of an asset is greater than its actual value, a value test will be conducted. The test is 
conducted for the lowest level of the asset that has independent revenue streams. If the recorded value is higher than both the 
value and the recoverable amount (present value of future use / ownership), the asset is written down to the highest sales 
value and recoverable amount. Depreciations are reversed if the basis for depreciation no longer exists. 
 
Lease agreements that are no longer recorded (operational leasing) are shown in the accounts as an operational cost and the 
annual leasing amount is shown in note 7. Leased assets are recorded as assets if the lease agreement is considered as 
transferring the bulk of the finance and risk associated with the asset. 
 
Shares 
Shares in subsidiaries of a strategic nature and other long-term investments are classified as assets and recorded at the 
lowest value of cost price and actual value. Dividends from subsidiaries are recorded in the same year as the company sells 
them. Dividends from other companies are recorded when the dividends are paid. 
 
Short-term investments are classified as current assets and are stated at the lower cost and net actual value.  
 
Stock 
Stock of cars are assessed at the lowest value of cost and assumed retail price after sales cost. An individual assessment is 
made of each car. Parts and equipment are recorded at average procurement cost (in accordance with the FIFO principle) 
Depreciation is carried out for obsolescence 
 
Accounts receivable and other receivables  
Accounts receivable and other receivables are recorded in the balance sheet with the nominal rate after deduction of confirmed 
and expected losses.  
 
Other financial investments  
Short-term financial investments are recorded at market value.  
 
Taxes 
Annual tax costs consist of payable tax and changes to deferred tax. Payable tax is fixed based on the annual fiscal result. 
Deferred tax in the balance sheet is calculated based on temporary differences between fiscal and accounting values and tax 
losses carried forward. Deferred tax benefits where future use is uncertain are not recorded. Deferred tax assets and tax 
benefits are presented net in the balance sheet when there is a basis for offsetting.  
Deferred tax benefits on acquisitions are calculated based on the difference between actual value and recorded value of 
acquired companies at identifiable assets and obligations. Deferred tax is not calculated on goodwill and increased value of 
properties upon acquisition. When purchasing properties, the transaction takes place through "single purpose companies" and 
any future sales will generally also be conducted as share transactions, and according to current tax regulations this would be 
tax free. Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries are included, unless the temporary 
difference is unlikely to be reversed in the immediate future. 
 
Pensions  
Norwegian companies have group pension schemes (defined-benefit and defined-contribution schemes), which are covered by 
the insurance companies. The Group also has unfunded pension obligations, including contractual pension (AFP), which is 
charged directly to operations and actuarily calculated. 
 
Swedish companies have group pension schemes (defined-benefit and defined-contribution schemes) which are governed by 
collective agreements. Companies in Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia have no pension schemes. 
 
When calculating the pension cost of defined-benefit schemes, a linear earning profile based on expected final salary is used. 
Plan amendments are amortised over the expected average remaining service period. The same applies to deviations in 
estimates to the extent the accumulated amount exceeds 10 percent of the biggest pension obligations and pension assets 
(corridor)  
Defined-contribution pensions are calculated on an ongoing basis in the accounts, with the Group contributing a certain 
percentage share of the employee's salary to the insurance company. The contributions are invested in funds, and employees 
can choose between various savings profiles. Apart from this, the Group has no other obligations to its employees in this 
scheme. 
 
Financial tools   
When hedging future interest costs, where the hedging tools must ensure variations in future cash flows, the hedging tool is not 
recorded in the balance sheet as long as the hedging is considered effective. Profit or loss is recorded at net in line with the 
result of the hedged item. For rate swap agreements, where the hedging is not considered effective, the hedging tool is 
recorded at market value in the balance sheet. Changes in the market value are made continually in the result. 
 
For currency forward contracts, the intention of which is to hedge assets and liabilities, where the hedge is considered to be 
effective then both the hedging tool and the hedged item is evaluated at real value, and profit and loss is recognised. When 
hedging net investments in foreign currency and where the hedge is considered effective, the currency forward contract is 
evaluated at actual value. Changes to the actual value are charged directly to equity. 



 
Foreign currency 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are valued at the balance sheet date and related foreign exchange profit / 
loss is recognised as financial items. This apples to liquid assets, receivables and liabilities. For non-cash items, the price at 
the transaction date is used as a basis for the acquisition cost and is not translated later. This applies mainly to merchandise 
and tangible fixed assets. The sale and purchase of goods and services in foreign currencies is calculated at the exchange rate 
on the date of the transaction.  
 
The Group uses Norwegian kroner as its presentation currency. The Group is exposed to changes in currency in SEK and 
EUR. Within the Group loans are granted in SEK and EUR. 
 
Warranty obligations  
With the sale of new cars, the Group has warranty obligations in accordance with the warranties provided by the various 
suppliers and regulations in the individual country. The manufacturers normally provide warranties according to applicable 
guidelines, but importers and dealers provide warranties in addition to these in accordance with local laws and any goodwill 
payment. The warranty period varies from one to 12 years.  
 
With the sale of used cars, the dealer generally handles the warranty obligations, in addition to the remaining manufacturer's 
warranty. 
 
There will be ongoing provision and assessment of future liabilities. 
 
Repurchase agreement 
The Group has a portfolio of sold new cars with guaranteed repurchase prices. The repurchase prices vary from 50-70% 
depending on the rental period, mileage and make of car. The agreements are not recognised in the balance sheet. A 
continuous assessment of the liabilities is conducted, and provisions are made for any anticipated losses.  
 
Cash flow set-up 
When preparing cash flow set-up, the indirect method is used. Liquid assets include cash, cash equivalents, financial 
investments (money market funds) and bank overdrafts. 
 
 
Long-term partnership contracts  
 
Volkswagen AG, Audi AG, and Skoda Automobilava AS (companies in the Volkswagen group) 
 
The contracts for Harald A. Møller AS for Volkswagen, Volkswagen Nyttekjøretøy, Skoda and Audi have an average notice 
period of two years. 
 
The contracts with Audi and Volkswagen in the Baltics have an average notice period of two years. The Volkswagen contract 
applies to Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, while the Audi contract applies to Latvia and Lithuania.  
 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG (company in the Volkswagen group) 
In 2009 Volkswagen Financial Services AG and MøllerGruppen AS set up the company Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS to sell 
car financing products in Norway The company previously took over Møller BilFinans AS from 7 December 2009. 
Volkswagen Financial Services AG owns 51 percent and MøllerGruppen AS 49 percent of the company. The current 
shareholders have preferential rights in the event of sale of shares. 
 
Volkswagen Test Bilfinans AS is treated as an associated company and accounted for using the equity method. 
 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken (SEB)  
A contract was signed with Møller BilFinans AS in 1997 with one year's on-going notice period.  SEB AB owns 51 percent and 
MøllerGruppen AS own 49 percent of the company. Møller Group has the rights to continue the company upon termination of 
the agreement by either party.  
 
Møller BilFinans AS is treated as an associated company and accounted for using the equity method. The company's 
operations are being phased out as Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS has taken it over. The loan and lease portfolio was not 
transferred, and these will continue without new supplies to Møller Bilfinans AS. 
  
 
 
 

 



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The following notes apply to the consolidated financial statements unless otherwise stated.
Amounts are stated in NOK 1,000.
All balance sheet figures are as per 31.12.

Note 1 - Segment information

The company consists of the business areas of car imports in Norway, car dealers in Norway, car dealers in Sweden, car import and car dealers in the Baltics, 
car finance, property and other companies.

Legally, cars and real estate are organised in their own subgroup and financed separately.

The business areas show the following key figures:

2012 Business areas 
Car import  

Norway 

Car           
    dealers   

Norway 

Car        
       dealers   

Sweden 
Car          

Baltics 
Car        

Financing Real estate  
Other        
companies 

Elimin  
ations Group         

Operating income  9 813 486   10 748 321   2 233 374   3 220 424   247 679  46 386  (7 492 362) 18 817 3  
Operating profit 587 747  126 203  (16 008) 23 101  106 378  (55 657) 30 470  802 2  
Depreciations* 83 314  53 431  51 875  7 899  65 081  2 904  (31 429) 233 0  
EBITDA 671 061  179 634  35 867  31 396  56 376  172 358  (52 753) (959) 1 092 9  
Income from investments in TS 396  56 376  899  57 6  
Other financial results (18) (25 653) (4 578) (5 178) (69 881) 73 936  (2) (31 3
Profit before tax 587 729  100 550  (20 586) 18 319  56 376  37 396  18 279  30 468  828 5  

Assets 2 028 527  2 648 493  403 591  453 979  102 923  3 154 572  3 984 839  (2 936 052) 9 840 8  

Sub group: Car Real estate  
Other        

companies** 
Elimin-  
ations Group 

Operating income 18 726 425  247 679  46 386  (203 182) 18 817 3  
Operating profit 746 504  106 378  (53 297) 2 649  802 2  
Depreciations * 167 739  65 081  2 904  (2 649) 233 0  
EBITDA 914 243  171 459  (50 393) 0  1 035 3  
Income from investments in TS 56 772  899  57 6  
Other financial results (7 978) (69 881) 46 485  0  (31 3
Profit before tax 795 298  37 396  (6 812) 2 649  828 5  

Assets 5 038 007  3 154 572  1 783 160  (134 867) 9 840 8  

Interest-bearing debt 25 157  1 567 955  11 032  (11 032) 1 593 1  
Other debt 2 822 741  187 217  208 070  (498 661) 2 719 3  

EBITDA is the operating profit before depreciations and includung income from investements in TS. 

*    incl. provisions for  ctingent liabilities  
* * Other companies are MøllerGruppen AS and other non-operative companies. The profit is exclusive of internal Group dividends and Group contributions. 

2011 Business areas: 
Car import  

Norway 

Car          
dealers   

Norway 

Car           
dealers   

Sweden 
Car          

Baltics 
Car         

Financing Real estate  
Other        
companies 

Elimin-  
ations Group          

Operating income  9 362 510   10 286 044   2 246 721   1 559 100   183 112  49 714  (5 599 314) 18 087 887  
Operating profit 517 045  300 712  34 775  47 198  101 369  (73 805) (58 467) 868 827  
Depreciations 50 834  51 917  10 281  5 551  37 334  3 110  (1 430) 157 597  
EBITDA 567 879  352 629  45 056  53 100  41 959  144 845  (70 695) (59 897) 1 074 876  
Income from investments in TS 351  41 959  6 142  0  48 452  
Other financial resuts 1 605  (18 148) (3 378) (4 299) (39 740) 66 041  5 215  7 296  
Result before tax 518 650  282 564  31 397  43 250  41 959  67 771  (7 764) (53 252) 924 575  

0  0  
Assets 2 122 849  2 555 615  400 583  439 362  218 047  2 398 598  4 377 745  (2 963 071) 9 549 728  

Sub group: Car Real estate 
Other        

companies* 
Elimin-  
ations 

Operating income 18 029 329  183 112  49 714  (174 268) 18 087 887  
Operating profit 835 641  101 369  (70 832) 2 649  868 827  
Depreciations 119 802  37 334  3 110  (2 649) 157 597  
EBITDA 955 443  138 703  (67 722) 0  1 026 424  
Income from investments  in TS 42 310  6 142  48 452  
Other financial results (3 418) (39 740) 45 242  5 212  7 296  
Results before tax 874 533  67 771  (25 590) 7 861  924 575  

Assets 4 806 271  2 398 598  1 990 652  354 207  9 549 728  
Interest-bearing debt 136 936  1 220 642  (2 910) 1 354 668  
Other debt 2 737 558  176 095  254 047  (171 628) 2 996 072  
EBITDA is the operating profit before depreciations and included income from investments in associated companies. 

*  Other companies in  MøllerGruppen AS and other  non-operative companies. Financial results are exclusive of internal Group dividends and Group contributions. 



Note 2 - Salary and other staff costs

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 Staff costs 2012 2011

33 051 24 572 Salaries 1 551 872 1 433 815
5 599 4 917 Employer's contribution 273 963 255 066

(1 537) (344)                Pension costs 66 370 62 346
4 965 29 910 Other staff costs 77 550 98 152

42 078 59 055 Total 1 969 755 1 849 379

17 12 Average number of employees 3 577 3 347
893 2 Loans to employees 43 450 47 903

1 481 1 823 Loans to management employees and the board 1 481 1 823

Loans to employees apply mainly to interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. Rates on loans to other management employees are 2 perc
In the case of a sale, liquidation or other reorganisation, under certain terms general managers in the Group are entitled to a loan for one year. 

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 The audit fees charged as an expense (excluding VAT) 2012 2011
518                   500 Audit fees 5 169 6 560

Audit-related services 37 187
436 386 Tax, fees and other consultancy services  1 426 869
954 886 Total 6 632 7 616

Audit fees charged as an expense for the group auditor PwC amount to 1.9 million kroner for 2012.

CEO  Board Payments to senior management
6 573                Salaries and bonuses

208                   Pension costs
165                   Other compensation

2 908              Board fees
6 946                2 908              Total

CEO and Board members have 3.14  percent and 3.43 percent equity in Møller MI AS, respectively.
Bonus schemes have been set up where the payout size depends on the results achieved for the year as well as other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bo  
is regarded as being a part of the normal salary in this type of position. Two managers in the parent company are entitled to two years early retirement benefit in the eve    
and dismissal by the company.

Note 3 - Other operational expenses

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 2012 2011

2 823 1 835 Operational expenses (rent, power, maintenance, car costs etc.) 560 931 515 177
390 672 Sales costs (advertising, warranties etc.) 611 419 740 318

17 650 9 453 Admin istration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts,  bad debts)etc. 217 702 141 623
20 863 11 960 Total 1 390 052 1 397 118

Note 4 - Income from investments in subsidiaries

MøllerGruppen AS
2012 2011

348 500 50 000 MøllerGruppen Bil AS
13 500 Møller Finans AS

348 500 63 500 Total

For Group contributions and dividends

Note 5- Investments in subsidiaries
Owner- /

MøllerGruppen AS Business- vote Equity or the year Recorded
Company name office share 31.12.2012 2012* value
Møller Gruppen Bil AS Oslo 99,6 % 1 769 824 568 804 1 959 420
Møller Gruppen Eiendom AS Oslo 99,5 % 1 249 533 47 213 1 273 734
Møller Investor AS Oslo 100,0 % 10 251 (2 952) 8 500
Møller Synergi AS Oslo 100,0 % 6 497 (667) 7 840

3 036 105 612 398 3 249 494

*    Includes dividends received/Group contributions from subsidiary of a total of 563.3 million kroner.

The above table only shows shares owned directly by MøllerGruppen AS. In total the Group consists of 103 companies directly and indirectly owned by MøllerGruppen 
An overview of companies in the group is shown on the last page of the annual report.



Note 6 - Investments in associated companies
The Group 

Vote Share of equity Recorded Result share Recorded
share/ in the company value Internal Addition /  after tax value 

Company name equity 31.12.2012 01.01.2012 profit Disposal 2012 ########
Møller BilFinans AS, Oslo 49,0 % 163 776 232 873 (171 500) 18 662 80 035
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS, Oslo 49,0 % 685 427 188 257 (18 425) 37 714 207 546
UAB Baltic Auto, Lithuania 35,0 % 2 382 5 118 (362) 53 4 809
Aasta Auto Pluss AS, Estonia 50,0 % 7 288 (7 992) 342 0
AL Industrier, Oslo 93 152 0 18 298 72 259 (165) 90 392
Frysjavein 31, Oslo 20,0 % 9 003 9 268 (640) 292 8 920
Big Box Eiendomsutvikling AS, Oslo 25,0 % 3 413 3 388 749 (157) 3 980
Rosenlund Bydelssenter AS, 30,0 % 15 561 36 922 83 930 37 935
Lillehammer
Total 483 114  (127)  (107 403) 57 671 433 617

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method.
Internal profit on the sale of vehicles to car finance companies is eliminated against investment. The amount is reduced by 28 percent tax.
A responsible loan of NOK 11.0 million has been given to Rosenlund Bydelssenter AS
Aasta Auto Pluss in Estonia was sold in 2012.

Note 7 -   Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
Tangible Cars, machinery Equipment under

fixed assets and fixtures Buildings Landementation Total
21 963 Cost 01.01 789 860 2 390 005 539 734 48 802 3 768 401

Additions on acquisitions this year 14 467 202 418 438 932 2 340 658 157
Translation difference (3 934) (13 661) (7 355) (26) (24 976)

6 669 Additions 122 128 212 134 41 330 213 519 589 111
3 896 Disposals 81 434 1 043 11 491 155 635 249 603

24 736 Acquisition cost 31.12 841 087 2 789 853 1 001 150 109 000 4 741 090
6 314 Accumulated depreciation 01.01 528 104 372 786 13 095 897 914 882

Additions on acquisitions this year 12 960 57 462 70 422
Translation difference -3 635 -1 932 33 80 (5 454)

2 019 Annual depreciation 80 245 66 421 6 756 153 422
1 564 Disposals 55 003 109 55 112
6 769 Depreciated 31.12 562 671 494 628 19 884 977 1 078 160

17 967 Recorded value 31.12 278 416 2 295 225 981 266 108 023 3 662 930

3-5 years Linear depreciation plan 3-7 years 20-50 years

1 112                Annual rental of non-recorded operating assets 18 061                   101 411 119 472

16 years Rental duration of business assets 1-5 years 10-18 years
Intangible Goodwill/

assets badwill* Total
Acquisition cost 01.01 97 155 134 326 231 481
Additions on acquisitions 3 007      3 007
Translation difference (2 630) (2 630)
Additions 38 194 (2 417) 35 777
Disposals 3 533 3 533
Acquisition cost 31.12 135 349 128 753 264 102
Accumulated depreciation 01.01 48 426 13 055 61 481
Additions on acquisitions 3 3
Translation difference -507 -507
Annual depreciation 24 831 13 322 38 153
Disposals 3 599 3 599
Depreciated 31.12 73 257 22 274 95 531
Recorded value 31.12 62 092 106 479 168 571

3-5 years Linear depreciation plan 3 years 5-10 years
* Goodwill regarding purchase of new companies, and goodwill in company accounts 

Annual depreciation on cars, machinery, fixtures, buildings and land 153 422
Annual depreciation on intangible assets and goodwill 38 153
Annual depreciation 191 575

Depreciation time on goodwill that represents strategic investments where MøllerGruppen has a long-term perspective, and is within the Group's core business is norma   
depreciated A324over 10 years. Other items are depreciated over 5 years.
Intangible assets of 48.7 million apply to software and development costs for IT systems.

Specification of goodwill/badwill upon purchase:
Date of Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Recorded Annual 

Goodwill/badwill transaction period cost depreciation* valueepreciation
Business area

2012 3 years (2 419) (403) (2 016) (403)
MøllerGruppen - set-up of new Group 01.01.11 2011 10 years 100 767 18 205 82 562 10 903

2011 10 years 25 380 5 479 19 901 2 453
2011 10 years 3 834 809 3 025 369

Total goodwill 127 562 24 090 103 472 13 322
* Incl. translation difference

Property Baltics
Car dealers Baltics

Car dealers Baltics



Note 8 - Investments in  other shares 
Recorded

Company name equity value
Molde Billakkering AS, Molde 35,0 % 135
AS Skade og Lakk, Fredrikstad 33,3 % 500
Elverum Autoskade AS, Hedmark 33,3 % 400
Autoringen AS, Oslo 20,0 % 300
Lillehammer Bilskadesenter AS, Lillehammer 17,0 % 195
Örebro Spelarinvest AB, Örebro Sverige 4,0 % 171
Nøtholmen Resort AS, Strømstad Sverige 1,0 % 506
AS Nytt om Bil 10,0 % 58
Bilbyen Dekk Hotell AS 12,0 % 60
Romerike Autolakk AS 20,0 % 80
Miscellaneous other shares 316
Total 2 721

Smaller equity investments with equity interest of between 20 and 35 percent are not treated as associated companies as they have limited value and results.

Note 9 - Pensions 

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 Pension costs 2012 2011
353                   407                 Present value of the year's pension entitlement 12 697 11 696 
709                   783                 Interest charges on pension obligations 15 712 14 909 

(600) (707) Return on pension assets (15 315) (14 852)
(2 631) (1 209) Actual loss profit) 9 891 10 665 
(2 169) (726) Annual pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions and early retirement 22 985 22 418 

532                   382 Contribution pension 43 385 39 928 
(1 637) (344) Total pension costs 66 370 62 346 

Average remaining service period is 8.29 years, which is used as amortisation factor for actuarial loss / (profit).

Recorded pension funds 2012 2011
Calculated pension obligations (368 799) (391 232)
Pension funds (at market value) 334 962 312 647 
Non recorded actuarial loss/(profit) 58 447 91 705 
Recorded pension funds 24 610 13 120 

Number of people covered by schemes 1 142 1 144

2012 2011 Pension obligations entered in the balance sheet  2012 2011
(16 978) (18 924) Calculated pension obligations (18 162) (27 680)
15 250 14 895 Pension funds (at market value) 
(1 254) (2 672) Non-recorded actuarial loss/(profit) 3 069 2 777 
(2 982) (6 701) Net pension obligations entered in the balance sheet (15 093) (24 903)

21 13 Number of people covered by schemes 2 321 2 494

Pension obligations for the Group include early retirement   with NOK 17.1 million as per 31.12.2011 . For MøllerGruppen AS the corresponding amount is NOK 0.1 mil
This covers early retirement pensioners, and a premium for 2,249 active employees to cover sub-financing of previous early retirement scheme

Financial assumptions: 2012 2011
Return on pension assets 3,60 % 4,80 %
Discount rate 4,20 % 3,90 %
Annual salary growth / annual G regulation 3,00 % 3,75 %
Annual regulation of pensions 0,00 % 0,70 %

The actuarial assumptions applied to demographic factors are the standard assumptions used within insurance, adapted to the Group's 
age structure and accounting.

All pension obligations include the employer's contribution.

Note 10 - Receivables for Group companies

MøllerGruppen AS has short-term receivables for other Group companies of a total of NOK 349.3 kroner, of which NOK 345.5 million are receivables 
on dividends and Group contributions.

Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have different pension plans of which secured schemes include Group pension plans that are defined-benefit and 
defined-contribution plans respectively. The companies in Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia do not have pension plans. 

 
The benefit scheme for Norwegian companies is closed to new members as of 01.01.2005. Employees in Norway who have a defined-benefit agreement were given 
the option to transfer to a defined-contribution scheme. Other Norwegian employees have a defined-contribution pension scheme. All employees in Norway are part of 
a Group pension scheme according to the Norwegian Companies Act. 

 
Defined-contribution pensions are charged as an expense on an ongoing basis in the accounts, as the Group pays savings based on the individual employee's salary 
level to the insurance company. An insurance premium for disability and children is also paid. There is no residual liability in these schemes. 

 
The Norwegian Group defined-benefit plans, coupled with expected pension from the scheme, give the right to defined future benefits. These are generally dependent 
on the number of years in service and salary level. The funded defined-benefit schemes are funded by the accumulation of funds in insurance companies.  

 
The Group participates in the LO / NHO scheme under which all employees can choose to take early retirement from the age of 62. This plan was terminated in 
February 2010 and it was only possible to take early retirement under the old scheme until 31/12/2010. One remaining provision  applies to the company's equity  for 
people who take early retirement in the old scheme. When the old scheme was terminated, it left a significant shortfall in the scheme. The member companies must 
cover this shortfall through continued payments of premiums for the next four years. The company's share of the old retirement scheme was established in a new 
early retirement scheme.  

 
A new retirement scheme was set up to replace the old retirement scheme. The new retirement scheme, unlike the old one, is not an early retirement scheme but a 
scheme that provides life-long contributions to an standard pension. Employees can choose to take out the new retirement scheme from when they reach 62 years of 
age. The new pension scheme is a defined-benefit multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are determined as a percentage of salary. Currently there is 
no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets of the scheme. In the accounts the scheme was treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme  
where the premium payments were charged as an expense on an ongoing basis, and no provisions were made in the accounts. In 2012 premiums were paid to the 
new scheme and the premium has been fixed at  1.4% of total payments between 1 G and 7.1 G to the company's employees (estimated at  NOK 4.5. million). There 
is no accumulation of capital in the system and it is expected that the level of premiums will increase for the {1} coming years.   

 
Our Swedish company has pension plans according to a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category and income.  Pension obligations associated to benefits are calculated actuarily as for the Norwegian company. 





Note 11 - Inventory

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 2012 2011

New cars 1 202 187 1 619 381
Used cars and demo cars 1 250 964 614 329
Parts and equipment 220 718 205 367
Other stock 12 896 28 078

0 0 Total 2 686 765 2 467 155

Note 12 - Accounts receivable

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 2012 2011

13 0 Trade receivables 842 343 949 892
Provision for bad debts (16 918) (14 552)

13 0 Total 825 425 935 340

Note 13 - Other receivables

Long-term receivables 
MøllerGruppen AS The Group

2012 2011 2012 2011
Loans to employees 20 306 24 153 
Loans to associated companies 11 045 

6 11 Other long-term receivables 8 184 2 416 
6 11 Total 39 535 26 569 

Short-term receivables 
MøllerGruppen AS The Group

2012 2011 2012 2011
253 185 Advances to suppliers 9 039 51 871 
894 Loans to employees 23 144 23 748 
434 Net VAT owed 16 035 12 061 
998 751 Other prepaid costs 92 031 64 696 

Accrued income 46 351 46 179 
4 2 837 Other short-term receivables 110 565 50 935 

2 583 3 773 Total 297 165 249 490 

Note 14 - Other financial investments
MøllerGruppen AS has a short-term Norwegian financial market fund of a total of NOK 736.3 million, which is recorded at actual value.

Note 15 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits of NOK 792.8 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed.
Møller Gruppen AS has guarantees for NOK 92.5 million for owed tax in the subsidiaries

Note 16 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in MøllerGruppen AS as per 31.12.12 Number Nominal valueare capital equity
Pinjong AS  (Harald Møller & family ) 25 000 1 000                 25 000 25,0 %
Vena Saphena AS (Anne Catrine Møller & family) 25 000 1 000                 25 000 25,0 %
Netrom AS (Jon Morten Møller & familiy) 25 000 1 000                 25 000 25,0 %
Lancelot Holding AS ( Øyvind Schage Førde & family) 25 000 1 000                 25 000 25,0 %
Total 100 000 100 000 100,0 %

The share capital consists of 100,000 shares of a nominal value of NOK  1,000. There is only one share class All shares have equal voting rights.
Harald Møller is the Chairman of the Board Anne Catrine Møller, Jon Morten Møller and Øyvind Schage Førde are Board members.

Note 17 - Other financial revenues and financial costs
MøllerGruppen AS The Group

2012 2011 2012 2011
15 524 28 732 Interest income 49 674 46 344

Currency gains 32 594 62 925
Dividends 1 399 1 689

29 133 8 525 Other financial revenue 3 235 6 626
44 657 37 257 Total other financial revenue 86 902 117 584

1 Interest expenses 74 850 40 770
Currency losses 35 423 62 102

164 5 211 Depreciation of financial assets 2 664 1 846
18 Other financial costs 5 339 5 569

182 5 212 Total other financial costs 118 276 110 287

Note 18 - Other short-term liabilities

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 2012 2011

Provision for warranties and other liabilities 592 379 635 917 
9 362 10 558 Accrued expenses and prepaid income 337 988 303 634 
2 607 1 731 Holiday pay and accrued salary 213 846 198 334 

Advances from customers 76 747 63 469 
421 718 Other short-term debt 16 265 26 123 

12 390 13 007 Total ######## ########



Note 19 - Related parties

Transactions with related parties
The Group company has the following transactions with related parties:
Company Company relationship Transaction type 2012 2011
Møller BilFinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 436 952 418 790 

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS, Oslo Associated company Sale of cars ######## ########
Associated company Purchase of cars 383 367 186 316 
Associated company Balance as of 31.12 62 943 43 152 

MøllerGruppen AS
Company Company relationship Transaction type 2012 2011
MøllerGruppen Bil AS Subsidiary Sales administration services 2 880 2 400 
Holding companies Subsidiary Sales consolidation services 1 512 1 231 
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Sale of HR, IMS and insurance services 8 439 1 425 
Møller MI AS Subsidiary Profit from sale of shares 63 528 
Harald A. Møller AS Subsidiary Purchase of IT/telephone services 1 755 708 
Møller Synergi AS Subsidiary Purchase of accounting services etc. 2 111 2 806 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS Subsidiary Interest income  4 692 
Møller Gruppen Bil AS Subsidiary Interest income 14 894 

Note 20 - Share capital

Group 2012 Majority Minority Total
Equity 01.01.12 5 019 269 179 719 ########
Profit for the year 552 681 45 170 597 851 
Annual dividend (175 000) (27 666) (202 666)
Change in minority interests etc. (44 710) (44 710)
Translation difference this year (20 526) (544) (21 070)
Equity 31.12.12 5 376 424 151 969 ########

Accumulated conversion difference as per 31.12.2012 is 16.8 million kroner.

Group 2011 Majority Minority Total
Equity 01.01.11 when setting up new Group 4 592 290 132 569 ########
Profit for the year 631 677 65 316 696 993 
Annual dividend (205 000) (33 441) (238 441)
Change in minority interests etc. (629) 15 275 14 646 
Translation difference this year 1 154 1 154 
Other items (market value interest rate hedging etc.) (223) (223)
Equity 31.12.11 5 019 269 179 719 ########

Minority shareholders include general managers and management employees with shares in Møller MI AS.
Share Premiumher contributions Other

MøllerGruppen AS 2012 capital fund equity equity Total
Equity 01.01 100 000 4 278 008 186 155 ########
Annual results 407 642 407 642 
Set aside for dividend (175 000) (175 000)
Equity 31.12 100 000 4 278 008 418 797 4 796 805

Share Premiumher contributions Other
MøllerGruppen AS 2011 capital fund equity equity Total
Equity 01.01 100 000 4 278 008 ########
Transferred with merger 342 800 342 800 
Annual results 43 355 43 355 
Set aside for dividend (200 000) (200 000)
Equity 31.12 100 000 4 278 008 186 155 4 564 163

Note 21 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 
The Group

Pledges 2012 2011
Recorded debt secured through deposit or similar ######## ########
Recorded value of equity with mortgage liability
Fixtures 9 086 0 
Trade receivables and inventories 148 245 295 193 
Buildings and land ######## ########
Total ######## ########

Guarantee 
Repurchase agreement for cars ######## ########
Committed investments 516 979 
Employees 17 465 26 916 
Other guarantees 449 164 

 
Møller MI AS was established in 2006 where senior employees and directors of the Møller Gruppen AS have a total stake of 55.8 percent and Møllergruppen Bil AS 
owns 44.2   percent. The company has an  A-share that has 51 percent of votes in the company, owned by MøllerGruppen Bil AS.  
Møller MI AS owns 9.9 percent of the shares in Harald A. Møller AS, Møller Bil AS, Møller Bil Sverige AS, Moller Auto Baltic AS and 7.57 percent of shares ini 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS. 
In 2012 Møller MI AS sold its 9% equity in Møller Eiendom Norge AS, Møller Eiendom Sverige AS, Møller Real Estate Baltic  AS, Stavanger Næringsbygg AS and  
Lillehammer Næringsbygg AS respectively. The company then   acquired 7.6 percent of shares in MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS. 

MøllerGruppen Bil 
MøllerGruppen Bil AS has a committed credit facility of a total of NOK 1,000 million. Subsidiaries that comprise 80 percent of gross turnover and equity in  the Group 
are guarantors. MøllerGruppen Bil also has a Norwegian and Swedish overdraft limit of NOK 100 million and SEK 20 million respectively, which is secured by joint 
and several liability  (Group cash schemes). As of 31.12.12 no withdrawals had been made from this borrowing facilities. 
MøllerGruppen Bil AS guarantees for shareholders in Møller MI AS that have loans in Nordea. Outstanding obligations at year end were  NOK 15.9 million. This is 
included in   guarantees for employees (see over). The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT, have joint and several liability for any debt. As of 
31.12.12 the Group has a net debt of NOK 9.3 million  in VAT.  

 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS has a total committed credit facility of NOK 200 million.  As per 31.12.12 NOK 35 million had been withdrawn. 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS also has an overdraft limit of NOK 20 million which is secured by joint and several liability (Group cash scheme).  As per 31.12.12 NOK 
19.2 million had been withdrawn. 

 



     
 



Note 22 - Long-term liabilities, financing and financial risk
MøllerGruppenlerGruppen The Group

Long-term liabilities Car Property 2012
Mortgage debt ####### ########
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 35 000    35 000 
Other long-term interest-bearing debt 17 428               17 428 
Other long-term debt 38                      6 124      6 162 
Total 17 466               ####### ########

Due
Due within 2 years -                     75 369    75 369 
Due between 2-5 years 381 287  381 287 
Due after 5 years 17 466               ####### ########
Total 17 466               ####### ########

Key figures
Unutilised committed credit facilities 1 117 000          185 000  ########
Weighted effective interest rate at 31.12 4,8 %

MøllerGruppenlerGruppen The Group
Long-term debt Car Property 2011
Mortgage debt ####### ########
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 100 000             100 000 
Other long-term interest-bearing debt 18 801               18 801 
Other long-term debt 39                      6 513      6 552 
Total 118 840             ####### ########

Due
Due within 2 years 100 000             56 214    156 214 
Due between 2-5 years 138 960  138 960 
Due after 5 years 18 840               ####### ########
Total 118 840             ####### ########

Key figures
Unutilised committed credit facilities 900 000             185 000  ########
Weighted effective interest rate at 31.12 3,4 % 4,9 %

When setting up a new Group from 01.01.2011 and refinancing the Group  the financing of MøllerGruppen  Group was split into three. The parent company  
MøllerGruppen AS is a holding company that owns shares in i MøllerGruppen Bil AS and MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS. These are two independent operatingunits.that 
are financed separately. The Group's company is financed through long-term loans and committed credit facilities. 
  
MøllerGruppen Bil   
MøllerGruppen Bil have a committed credit facility of NOK 1 000 million that runs to July 2016. Credit facilities are not secured but all significant companies in 
Møllergruppen Bil are jointly and severally liable for the debts. MøllerGruppen Bil AS is the debtor. There are requirements (coventants) for financial key figures in the 
contract, associated with  equity and cash, which are fulfilled at the end of the year. 

 
Financial risk.   
The Group has companies within the sale, finance and service of cars. The Group's activities involve financial risk associated with currency, rates, credit and liquidity. 
The Group manages risk with the objective of ensuring predictable cash flows and to ensure sufficient liquidity to meet natural fluctuations in working capital. 
  
The Group sells products in local currency in Norway and Sweden, while sales in the Baltics are mainly in EUR.  
 In Norway the Group is currency exposed short-term for imports of products in EUR. Car manufacturers have significantly long-term currency risk through 
agreements. The short-term currency risk would be secured by using forward contracts. As of  31.12.12 there are currently no forward contracts. In addition the Group 
has currency risk associated with net investments and loans to Swedish and Baltic companies. The risks are mitigated by having the corresponding external debt in 
the same currency or currency futures. The forward   contracts are market-assessed (mark-to-market) and the value recorded as unrealised profit at year end. The 
total secured amount is SEK  120 million and EUR 0.7 million. Unrealised losses at end of the year are recorded with NOK 0.2 million. 

 
Credit risk 
A significant part of the Group's turnover is cash-based. There will be a temporary credit risk associated with the sale from the importer company to external dealers 
and in those instances when cars or workshop services are sold on credit. The risks are hedged with tight credit procedures and close monitoring of outstanding 
accounts receivable. Historically losses have been low. 

 
Liquidity risk 
The Group operates a cyclical industry with relatively large fluctuations in working capital. There is therefore a risk associated with short-term access to liquidity. This 
is hedged by having a flexible and committed framework financing where withdrawals are regulated according to need.  

 
Repurchase agreements 
The Group has risk associated with repurchase agreements. Total repurchase agreement obligations are NON 3.5 billion as per 31.12.2012. The risk is associated 
with the future market price for used cars. The risk is hedged through certain procedures for entering contracts and returning cars. A continuous assessment of the 
liabilities is conducted, and provisions are made for any anticipated losses.  

 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom  
MøllerGruppen Eiendom have committed credit facilities of NOK 220 million  which run to July 2014. The property's mortgage debts requires  covenants for financial 
key figures for the property value, equity and cash flowwhich are fulfilled at the end of the year.  

 
Interest rate risk 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom is financed mainly with long-term mortgage loans with variable interest rates. This involves a risk linked to the development of interest rate 
costs.  This risk is hedged by switching a significant amount of the debt to a fixed rate through rate switch agreements. As of 31.12.12 a rate switch contract was 
entered for the total of NOK 970 million for an average rate of 3.8% and with an average remaining run time of 4.9 years. Rate switch contracts hedge approx. 2/3 of 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom's debt at the end of the year. 
The time for determining the liquid element in the hedging contracts is adapted according to the rollover of underlying loans. The agreements are signed with a view to 
running until they expire.  On this basis, MøllerGruppen Eiendom has chosen to record the agreements as hedge agreements, which leads to ongoing changes in the 
 market value not being recorded in the income statement.  

 
Currency risk 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom  owns properties in Norway, Sweden and the Baltic countries. The currency risk associated with this is mainly covered through financing in 
local currency. Financing is either from the local bank or internally from MøllerGruppen Eiendom AS.  By financing foreign subsidiaries in local currency 
MøllerGruppen  Eiendom  AS hedges the currency risk either with its own financing in the same currency or with currency forward contracts. Both internal claims and 
forward contracts are continually market-assessed (mark-to-market) and the value is recorded as unrealised profit. At the end of the year the total hedged amount 
was SEK 270 million and EUR 1.9 million. Unrealised loss at the end of the year was recorded as NOK million. 

 
Credit risk 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom  has significant rental income from other companies in MøllerGruppen, and from external companies. There will always be a risk associated 
with the tenants' ability to comply with the tenant agreements. This is controlled through long tenant agreements with reliable tenants, and as far as possible, a 
diversification of tenants. Historically losses have been low. 

 
Liquidity risk 
MøllerGruppen Eiendom  operates in a capital-hungry industry. The existing property portfolio is financed with a solid equity share  and ongoing rental income covers 
costs with a good margin.  MGE does not enter new projects without having the finance clarified in advance. Furthermore, MGE  has an unutilised committed 
borrowing facility  which guarantees access to finance when the need arises  The liquidity risk is therefore considered low   



                          
borrowing facility, which guarantees access to finance when the need arises. The liquidity risk is therefore considered low.  



Note 23 - Taxes

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 Taxes in the income statement 2012 2011

408 769 42 263 Pre-tax results 828 531 924 575 

(1 665) Tax payable Norway 215 005 290 580 
Tax payable abroad 9 293 20 123 

0 (1 665) Total payable tax 224 298 310 703 
1 127 573 Changes to deferred tax 6 382 (83 121)
1 127 (1 092) Tax costs 230 680 227 582 

407 642 43 355 Profit for the year 597 851 696 993 

0,3 % (2,6 %) Effective tax rate 27,8 % 24,6 %

114 455 11 834 28% of result before tax costs 231 989 258 881 
1 127 (1 092) Actual tax costs 230 680 227 582 

113 328 12 926 Deviation of tax costs 1 309 31 299 

Tax effect comprises:
1 059 (385) Permanent differences 2 825 2 407 

(114 388) (12 541) Profit, loss, shares and dividend 3% (380) (11 422)
Result in TS (16 148) (13 567)
Depreciation goodwill/added value buildings 9 812 7 450 
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (705) (21 477)
Other items 3 287 5 310 

(113 328) (12 926) Total (1 309) (31 299)

Tax in balance sheet
The calculation of deferred taxes is taken into account for the following temporary differences at 31.12.12:

MøllerGruppen AS The Group
2012 2011 Items with temporary differences 2012 2011

Trade receivables and other receivables (8 417) (11 687)
Inventory (177 809) (167 222)

3 417 3 041 Fixed operating assets 336 979 314 489 
Short and long-term liabilities (622 147) (774 383)

(2 983) (6 701) Pensions 30 621 10 245 
Profit and loss account 22 038 27 547 

(201) (130) Deferred losses (49 735) (44 171)
Latent dividend tax - Estonia (75 464) 71 229 

233 (3 790) Total basic deferred tax (543 934) (573 953)

65 (1 061) Norway 28.0% 163 471 174 253 
Sweden 22.0% (9 157) (10 465)
Lithuania and Latvia 15.0% 11 579 9 396 
Estonia 26.6% (20 073) (18 946)

65 (1 061) Net deferred tax 145 820 154 238 

1 061 Deferred tax benefits in balance sheet 170 382 189 151 
(65) Deferred tax debt in balance sheet (24 562) (34 913)
(65) 1 061 Net deferred tax in balance sheet 145 820 154 238 

Deferred tax is included in the balance sheet as net for the different tax groups.
No deferred tax on losses carried forward abroad of NOK  6.3 million due to uncertainty of future use.

Deferred tax liabilities are as follows:                                                                             
1 062 1 635 Deferred tax 01.01 154 238 110 832 

Additions / disposals / divested companies 5 313 (24 551)
Currency adjustment  (184) (385)
Deferred tax internal services from associated companies in year* (7 165) (14 779)

(1 127) (573) Annual change deferred tax (6 382) 83 121 
(65) 1 062 Deferred tax net 31.12 145 820 154 238 

* Deferred tax for internal profits from associated companies - part of the investment in the balance sheet.

Tax payable appears as follows:
0 (1 665) Tax payable 224 298 310 703 

Prepaid tax abroad (14 849) 2 672 
0 (1 665) Due tax payable 209 449 313 375 

Note 24 - Other provisions and contingent liabilities

The Group has made provisions for losses on rent obligations totalling NOK 76.5 million.

Income tax in Norway, Sweden, Lithuania and Latvia is 28, 22, 15 and 15 percent respectively. Estonia does not have income tax but dividend tax. This is deferred tax 
for dividends. 



Note 25 - Significant transactions in the accounting year 

Transactions in 2012

Acquisitions and sales have the following effect on the consolidated accounts:
Acquisitions in 
MøllerGruppen 

Eiendom

 
Acquisiti

ons in 
MøllerGr

 Total 
acquisitio

ns 
Cash 1 900                2 868 4 768      
Trade receivables 17                     3 364 3 381      
Operating assets (including added value) 585 391            4 005 589 396  
Inventory -                    11 257 11 257    
Other assets 103 918            1 471 105 389  
Trade payables (4 833)               -2 653     (7 486)     
Other interest-free debt (24 262)             -6 661     (30 923)   
Interest-bearing debt (132 270)           -6 313 (138 583) 
Net identifiable equity 529 861            7 338 537 199

Acquired debt (41 899)             (41 899)   
Goodwill (2 662) (2 662)     
Currency difference (147)                  (147)        
Purchase sum/sales sum 487 815            4 676      492 491  

Paid in cash 487 815            4 676 492 491  
Acquired/paid debt 41 899              41 899    
Acquired cash (1 900)               -2 868 (4 768)     
Net cash out (in) 527 814            1 808      529 622  

Transactions in 2011

Acquisitions and sales have the following effect on the consolidated accounts:
 Acquisitions in 
MøllerGruppen 

Eiendom 

 Acquisitions in 
MøllerGruppen 

Bil 

Total 
acquisitions

 Sales in 
MøllerGr

uppen Bil 

 Net 
Group 

total 

Cash 7 081                    1 880                    8 961                (628) 8 333      
Trade receivables 891                       8 099                    8 990                (5 108) 3 882      
Operating assets 288 717                26 257                  314 974            (4 432) 310 542  
Inventory 25 818                  25 818              (53 878) (28 060)   
Other assets 3 321                    52 706                  56 027              (3 436) 52 591    
Trade payables (7 787)                   (12 576)                 (20 363)             15 070    (5 293)     
Other interest-free debt (46 300)                 (60 589)                 (106 889)           36 727    (70 162)   
Interest-bearing debt (123 815)               (13 940)                 (137 755)           3 209 (134 546) 
Net identifiable equity 122 108                27 655                  149 763            (12 476) 137 287

Goodwill 3 834                    25 684                  29 518              (311) 29 207    
Profit from sales (39 713) (39 713)   
Purchase sum/sales sum 125 942                53 339                  179 281            (52 500)   126 781  

Paid in cash 125 942                53 339                  179 281            (52 500) 126 781  
Acquired cash (7 081)                   (1 880)                   (8 961)               628 (8 333)     
Net cash out (in) 118 861                51 459                  170 320            (51 872)   118 448  

MøllerGruppen Eiendom  
* MøllerGruppen Eiendom  AS has bought 100 percent os shares in the following companies: Christianiakvartalet AS, Langmyra 6 AS, Knudsrødveien 7 AS, Eurobygg   
Eiendom AS,  Averøy Handelsbygg AS, Eide Handelsbygg AS, Vestnes Handelsbygg AS, Ålesund Handelsbygg AS,  Ålesund Handelsbygg II AS and Steinkjer  
Handelsbygg AS. 
* Møller Real Estate Baltic AS bought 100% of shares in Autohaus Holding AS as of 30.04.11 

 
MøllerGruppen Bil 
* Møller Auto Baltic AS bought 100% shares in Saksa Auto AS of 30.04.11 
* Møller Bil AS sold 100% shares in Møller Bil Tromsø AS as of 01.01.11 

MøllerGruppen Eiendom 
* MøllerGruppen Eiendom in Norway has bought 100% oif the following companies/properties: Harbitzalleen 3-7 at Skøyen, Møllergata 4 in Oslo, Bamble 
Handelsbygg, Solbergkrysset Ås and  Notodden Handelsbygg, and 21.4 % of AL Industrier (TS andel). 
* In addition MøllerGruppen Eiendom has bought a commercial property in Sweden and the property is connect to the purchase of the dealerships in Latvia.. 

 
MøllerGruppen Bil 
* MøllerGruppen Bil in the Baltics has committed credit facilities of a total of NOK 1000 million as per 01.01.12. 
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